



DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN MEDICINA SPERIMENTALE XXVIII CICLO

"Olive oil phenols as potential source of chemopreventive and therapeutic agents against bladder cancer"

DOTTORANDO

Andrea Coccia

DOCENTE GUIDA

Prof. Eugenio Lendaro

COORDINATORE DEL DOTTORATO Prof.ssa Maria Rosaria Torrisi

ANNO ACCADEMICO 2015-2016

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude towards my PhD supervisor, Prof. Eugenio Lendaro, for his mentorship and professional support throughout the last years. I would also like to thank all the members of my supervisory committee of PhD school in experimental medicine.

A very special thanks goes out to Prof. Luciana Mosca for her technical advice and exchanges of knowledge through these years.

Many present and past members of our department have contributed immensely to this thesis and in my personal development. In particular, I would like to thank Rosa Puca, Emma Nora Di Capua, Daniela Bastianelli, Paolo Rosa, Chiara Zerbinati, Giorgio Mangino, Silvia Carlomagno, Elisabetta de Marinis and many others for supporting me through these years.

Finally and most importantly, I would like to extend a special thanks to my father and my mother for their continued encouragement and to Lorena for her love and patience. They have been with me on every step of this journey and I will always be grateful for their steadfast support.

I dedicate this thesis to them.

This work was financially supported by "Lega Italiana per la Lotta contro i Tumori" section of Latina, "Fondazione Roma" and "Settore delle Attività Produttive Servizio Agricoltura, Provincia di Latina. I gratefully acknowledge Dr. Elena De Falco for supplying the human urothelial fibroblasts and "CAPOL association" for providing EVOO samples.

List of abbreviation

BC	Breast Cancer
BCa	Bladder Cancer
CRC	Colorectal Cancer
EA	Elenolic Acid
ECM	Extracellular Matrix
EGCG	Epygallocathechingallate
EGFR	Epidhermal Growth Factor Receptor
EMT	Epithelial To Mesenchimal Transition
EPIC	European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer And
	Nutrition
ER	Estrogen Receptor
ERK	Extracellular-Signal-Regulated Kinases
EVOO	Extra Virgin Olive Oil
EVOO-E	Extra Virgin Olive Oil Extract
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
HPEA-EDA	Dialdehydic Form Of Elenolic Acid Linked To Tyrosol
HT	Hidroxytyrosol
LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
MDR	Multi Drug Resistance
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase
MUFA	Monounsaturated Fatty Acid
OLE	Oleuropein
PARP	Poly (ADP-Ribose) Polymerase
P-gp	P-Glycoprotein
PUFA	Poly Unsaturated Fatty Acid
POC	
KO5	Reactive Oxygen Species
TIMP	Reactive Oxygen Species Tissue Inhibitors Of Metalloproteinases

Table of contents

<u>ACK</u>	NOWLEDGMENTS2
<u>LIST</u>	OF ABBREVIATION3
TAB	LE OF CONTENTS4
<u>FIGU</u>	JRE INDEX7
<u>ABS</u>	<u>TRACT8</u>
<u>1</u>	INTRODUCTION10
1.1	OLIVE OIL CHEMICAL COMPOSITION11
1.2	OLIVE OIL PHENOLICS
1.3	BIOAVAILABILITY OF OLIVE OIL PHENOLIC COMPOUNDS IN HUMANS
1.4	ANTIOXIDANT ACTIVITY OF EVOO PHENOLIC COMPOUND AND
	CHEMOPREVENTIVE EFFECT ON CANCER
1.5	ANTITUMOR EFFECTS OF OLIVE OIL PHENOLS
1.5.1	LEUKEMIA
1.5.2	COLORECTAL CANCER
1.5.3	BREAST CANCER
1.6	BLADDER CANCER AND NUTRITION: IS THERE A RELATIONSHIP?
<u>2</u>	<u>AIMS</u>
2.1	INVESTIGATE THE ABILITY OF EVOO PHENOLS TO MODULATE BIOLOGICAL
	PROCESS RELATED TO BLADDER CANCER CELL MOTILITY
2.2	INVESTIGATE THE ANTIPROLIFERATIVE ACTIVITY OF EVOO PHENOLS AND ITS
	ABILITY TO CHEMOSENSITIZE BLADDER CANCER CELLS TO CHEMOTHERAPICS25
<u>3</u>	MATERIALS AND METHODS
3.1	EXTRACTION OF THE PHENOLIC FRACTION
3.2	HPLC ANALYSIS OF THE EVOO EXTRACT

6	FIGURES
<u>5</u>	CONCLUSION
4.8.3	EVOOE STRONGLY INCREASES PACLITAXEL INDUCED APOPTOSIS
4.8.1	EVOOE DOES NOT ALTER ETOPOSIDE CYTOTOXICITY
	ASSOCIATION WITH EVOOE45
4.8	EVALUATION OF CYTOTOXIC EFFECT OF CONVENTIONAL CHEMOTERAPICS IN
4.7	EVOOE INDUCE APOPTOSIS ONLY IN T2444
4.6	EVOOE BLOCKS THE CELL CYCLE PROGRESSION AT G2/M STAGE42
	DEPENDENT MANNER
4.5	EVOOE INHIBITS CELL GROWTH AND CLONOGENICAL SURVIVAL IN A DOSE
	IN T24 CELLS
4.4	EVOOE ALTERS THE LEVELS OF GENE EXPRESSION ASSOCIATED WITH EMT ONLY
	CELLS
4.3	EVOO EXTRACT ATTENUATES THE ENZYMATIC ACTIVITIES OF MMP-2 IN T24
4.2	EVOO-E INHIBITS T24 MIGRATION AND INVASION
4.1	EVOO-E CHROMATOGRAPHIC ANALYSIS
<u>4</u>	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
3.14	STATISTICS
3.13	WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS
3.12	IMMUNOFLUORESCENT STAINING OF F-ACTIN AND B-TUBULIN
3.11	CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS
3.10	QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR OF EMT GENE EXPRESSION
3.9	GELATIN ZYMOGRAPHY
3.8	INVASION ASSAY
3.7	MIGRATION ASSAY
3.6	CELL ADHESION ASSAY
3.5	COLONY FORMING ABILITY
3.4	CYTOTOXICITY ASSAYS28
3.3	CELL CULTURES

REFERENCES	77
	_

FIGURE INDEX

FIGURE 1 BIOPHENOLS AND RELATED COMPOUNDS IDENTIFIED IN OLIVE OR OLIVE
MILL WASTE
FIGURE 2 FOREST PLOT OF STUDIES THAT EVALUATED THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN
OLIVE OIL INTAKE AND CANCER DEVELOPMENT
FIGURE 3 HIGH-PERFORMANCE LIQUID CHROMATOGRAMS OF THE PHENOLIC
FRACTION OF A REPRESENTATIVE VIRGIN OLIVE OIL EXTRACT
FIGURE 4 EFFECTS OF EVOO-E TREATMENT ON CELL VIABILITY, ADHESION AND
MOTILITY
FIGURE 5 INVASION INDEX
FIGURE 6 QUANTITATIVE REAL-TIME PCR OF EMT RELATED GENES
FIGURE 7 GEL ZYMOGRAPHY ANALYSIS OF MMP-2 AND MMP-9 ACTIVITY IN SERUM
FREE CONDITIONED MEDIUM AFTER EXPOSURE TO EVOO-E
FIGURE 8 EVOO-E AFFECT CELLS VIABILITY IN A DOSE DEPENDENT MANNER
FIGURE 9 CLONOGENICAL SURVIVAL ASSAY
Figure 10 EVOO-E blocks the cell cycle progression at $G2/M$ stage71
FIGURE 11 IMMUNOFLUORESCENT STAINING OF F-ACTIN AND B-TUBULIN72
FIGURE 12 CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS OF SUB G173
FIGURE 13 WESTERN BLOT ANALYSIS OF APOPTOSIS RELATED PROTEIN
FIGURE 14 EVALUATION OF CYTOTOXIC EFFECT OF CONVENTIONAL CHEMOTHERAPICS
IN ASSOCIATION WITH EVOO-E75
FIGURE 15 EVOO-E STRONGLY INCREASES PACLITAXEL INDUCED APOPTOSIS

ABSTRACT

The consumption of extra virgin olive oil (EVOO), a common dietary habit of the mediterranean people, seems to be related to a lower incidence of certain types of cancer including bladder neoplasm. Metastases are the major cause of bladder cancer-related deaths and targeting cell motility has been proposed as a therapeutic strategy to prevent cancer spread. This study aim to investigate the potential anti-metastatic and antiproliferative effect of total phenols extracted from EVOO against human transitional bladder carcinoma cell lines. Our results show that EVOO extract can significantly inhibit the proliferation and motility of T24 bladder cells in a dose-dependent manner. Furthermore the enzymatic activity of MMP-2 was inhibited at non-toxic EVOO extract doses in T24 cells. The qRT-PCR revealed a decrease of the MMP-2 expression, and a simultaneous increase of the TIMPs gene expression. The cell cycle analysis of two bladder cancer cell lines (T24 and 5637) after EVOO-E treatment show a marked growth arrest prior to mitosis in the G2/M phase for both the cell lines with the subsequent induction of apoptosis only in T24 cells. Finally we evaluated the ability of EVOOE to chemosensitize T24 to the cytotoxic action of common used chemoterapics. Interestingly the simultaneous treatment of Paclitaxel and EVOOE strongly increase the apoptotic cell death at every of the tested concentration if compared to the drug alone.

Our results may support the epidemiological evidences which link olive oil consumption to health benefits and may represent a starting point for the development of new anticancer strategies.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Olive oil chemical composition

Extra virgin olive oil (EVOO) is a food produced from the first and second pressings of the olive fruit by the coldpressing method [1] without the use of chemicals, and it is composed of a glycerol fraction (which account for about 95–99% of the olive fruit) and a non-glycerol or unsaponificable fraction (0.4–5% of the olive fruit) which contains phenolic compounds [2]. The saponificable fraction is composed mainly of triacylglycerols (triglycerides or fats) and contains small quantities of free fatty acids (FFA), glycerol, phosphatides, pigments, flavor compounds, sterols, and microscopic bits of olive. Triacylglycerols act as energy reserve for plants and animals. Chemically speaking, these are molecules derived from the natural esterification of three fatty acid molecules with a glycerol molecule. The fatty acids forming part of the triacylglycerol molecule can be saturated or unsaturated and are represented in the Table 1.

The oleic acid which account for about 70-80% is the most represented monounsaturated lipid molecule (MUFA), followed by the polyunsaturated (PUFA) linoleic acid 10 % and palmitic and stearic acid (saturated). The high content of MUFA and PUFA is distinctive of EVOO and is partially responsible for the healthy properties of this food because most of the unsaturated fatty acid cannot be synthesized and so are contemplate as essential dietary. Initially, the beneficial health effects of EVOO were attributed to the glycerol fraction with its high concentration of MUFAs[3]. However, several seed oils (including rapeseed, sunflower and soybean) containing high quantities of MUFAs are ineffective in beneficially altering chronic disease risk factors. Therefore, a substantial number of scientific works examining the biological actions of olive

oil phenolic compounds in the unsaponificable fraction have been conducted. In recent years most of the healthy properties of EVOO are attributed to the polyphenolic fraction characterized by the presence of unique molecules that cannot be found in other biological matrix.

1.2 Olive oil phenolics

The total phenol content of olive oil has been reported to have a wide variability ranging between 100 and 800 mg/Kg. Variation in the phenolic profile exists among different virgin olive oils due to numerous factors, including the Olea cultivar and the agronomic and technological conditions of oil production [4, 5] The phenolic composition of EVOO is heterogeneous, with about 36 structurally distinct phenolic compounds identified [6]. Different groups of phenolic molecules can be found in virgin olive oils, such as phenolic acids, flavonoids, phenolic alcohols, , hydroxy-isochromans, lignans and secoiridoids (Figure 1). One of the first class of phenols studied in EVOO were phenolic acids, this is an eterogenous combination of molecules that include several different acids like gallic, protocatechuic, p-hydroxybenzoic, vanillic, caffeic, syringic, p- and o-coumaric, ferulic and cinnamic. Another interesting family of chemical compounds found in EVOO are lignans, which include (+)-1-acetoxypinoresinol and (+)-1-pinoresinol. These chemical compounds are mainly located in the woody portion of the seed and in the olive pulp and are released in EVOO during the extraction process.

Flavonoids are secondary plant metabolites constituted by planar molecules and their structural variation comes in part from the pattern of modification by hydroxylation, methoxylation, prenylation, or glycosylation. During the past decade, an increasing number of publications on the health beneficial effects of flavonoids have appeared, such those related to cancer and coronary heart diseases[7-10].

Phenolic alcohols are principally represented by hydroxytyrosol (HT) (3,4dihydroxyphenyl)ethanol (3,4-DHPEA) and tyrosol (TY) that are identical except for the presence of extra hydroxyl group in the *meta* position. Phenolics alchols concentration is high variable due to different factor and is generally low in freshly pressed oils, but this increases during oil storage, as a consequence of the hydrolysis of Oleuropein (OLE). The secoiridoids belongs to a specific group of coumarin-like compounds, abundant in Oleaceae. This class of compounds found only in the family of Olearaceae plants are well represented by Oleuropein which is an ester of hydroxytyrosol (3,4-DHPEA) and the elenolic acid (EA) glucoside (oleosidic skeleton common to the secoiridoid glucosides of Oleaceae).

In latest years one of the most studied secoiridoid was the dialdehydic form of deacetoxy-ligstroside aglycon better known as Oleocanthal. This particular molecule gain great interest after the findings of Beauchamp and coworkers [11] that the dialdehydic form of deacetoxy-ligstroside aglycon share a similar structure of the anti-inflammatory drug Ibuprofen. In this work they demonstrated the ability of Oleocanthal to inhibit the cyclooxygenase enzymes COX-1 and COX-2 and they suggested this mechanism as the key of the beneficial effect exerted by the the Mediterranean diet characterized by a regular intake of this compound.

Now, after 10 years since the Beauchamp work was published a lots of evidences were collected about this molecule and other EVOO phenolics

13

compound and all data seems to point out like the nutraceutical properties of this food are due to a synergism between them.

1.3 Bioavailability of olive oil phenolic compounds in humans

The knowledge of phenols metabolism after ingestion has been the subject of study by the scientific community due to the high intake of this molecules, especially in mediterranean area. Using an average total phenol content of 400 mg/kg, and given a daily intake of 25-30ml of EVOO an estimate of the amount of olive oil phenolics consumed per person each day is about 10 mg. [12]. Most of the studies regarding the bioavailability of olive oil phenolics focused the attention on three major class of compounds: hydroxytyrosol, tyrosol, and oleuropein. Data obtained from different works showed how these molecules are absorbed in a dose-dependent manner [13, 14]. Tuck and coworker[15] demonstrated, using an animal model, an increase of bioavailability of HT and TY of about 20% when administered as an olive oil solution compared to an aqueous one. They suggested that they olive oil matrix, due the high content of antioxidants, may protect the breakdown of phenolics in the g.i. tract prior to absorption The mechanism olive oil phenolic compounds are absorbed remains unclear, however many studies postulated that the different polarities of the various phenolics maybe involved in the absorption of these compounds[16]. Tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol are polar molecules and their absorption has been demonstrated to occur via passive diffusion[17]; unfortunately, oleuropein and ligstroside-aglycones are bigger and less polar than HT and currently there is no data available on their mechanism of absorption. It is known that polyphenols metabolism usually undergo phase I and phase II reaction, in which they are hydrolysed and conjugated into their sulphated, methylated and glucuronidated forms to be absorbed[18]. This process is really important, because polyphenols in its free form are undetectable or in a very low concentration in biological matrix, Many studies focused their attention also on phenolics excretion. Vissers et al [16] reported a content of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol in urine of about 5-16% of the total ingested while in a study by Miro-Cases and colleagues[14] the rate of excretion of HT administered was about 24%. Further study performed by Visioli and colleagues[19] showed and high variability in hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol excretion between 60% and 20% of the total ingested by human subjects. Collectively these findings demonstrate an high variability in human absorption and excretion of EVOO polyphenols probably due to individual differences. As most of the obtained data is only based on three molecules, more investigation about bioavailability and urinary excretion of other EVOO bioactive molecules are needed. It's important to notice that the concentrations of EVVO phenols in biological fluids, after their ingestion, are too low to explain the biological activities obtained *in vitro* and *in vivo* models at higher doses/concentrations.

Many hypothesis have been postulated to explain discrepancies between, beneficial effects observed in clinical trial related to polyphenols content of olive oil and their poor bioavailability[20, 21]. Tuck et al[22] hypothesized that conjugated metabolites of phenols are also bioactive, they found that the 3-Oglucuronide HT conjugate had an antioxidant activity five fold higher compared to hydroxytyrosol. Most of EVOO phenols pharmacokinetic studies have focused the attention on some specific compounds such as TY and HT. Miró-Casas et al.[14] reported the presence of conjugated forms of HT in plasma, this evidence is in a good agreement with other data that correlate the intake of EVOO with a lower oxidation status of LDL [20, 21]. Several reports demonstrated that phenolic compounds and their metabolites after olive oil ingestion are incorporated in lipoproteins and this may explain their protecting antioxidant effects[20]. Globally none of these hypotheses has been fully corroborated experimentally.

1.4 Antioxidant activity of EVOO phenolic compound and chemopreventive effect on cancer.

The exposure to genotoxic substances of different origin (environmental or endogenously produced) is one of the leading causes of carcinogenesis[23]. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are continuously produced in all aerobic organisms and therefore constitute the most important genotoxic endogenous agent, this is the main reason that correlate oxidative stress with various disease in particularly cancer[24]. Various experiments conducted *in vitro* on different cellular model demonstrated the potent antioxidant activity of EVOO phenols suggesting a potential role of these chemicals in the chemopreventive ability of olive oil, however the protective role of EVOO phenols against DNA oxidative damage need to be clarified .

Hillestrom and coworker[25] demonstrated that after the ingestion of phenol rich olive oil there is no significant variation in the excretion of etheno-DNA adducts, moreover Machowetz et al. established how the consumption of EVOO with different phenolic content cannot affect the oxidation products of guanine in the urine[26]. However, on other hand there are lot of work that support the protective role of olive oil phenols against DNA damage. Fabiani et al [27] demonstrated how different phenolic compounds, obtained from olive mill wastewater, can reduce H_2O_2 induced DNA damage in HL60 promyelocytic leukemia cells, the same results was achieved by Warleta et al, in this work HT decreases the intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) level in MCF10A cells but not in MCF7 or MDA-MB-231 cells while very high amounts of tyrosol is needed to decrease the ROS level in MCF10A cells[28]. Collectively all the data obtained from *in vitro* models seems to support protective role of phenol molecules against oxidative damage. It's of note that the concentration used in most of the scientific work previously cited is easily reachable with a normal intake of olive oil, at least in the enteric tract[29], taken together this findings suggest that EVOO phenols may prevent, in part, the first step of carcinogenesis *in vivo*.

1.5 Antitumor effects of olive oil phenols.

In addition to the antioxidant activity there is a wide amount of scientific literature focused on exploring the antitumor potential of EVOO phenols. Several studies demonstrated that different molecular mechanism are involved in the inhibition of proliferation or induction of apoptosis; relevant data about the most studied tumor types are reviewed in the following section.

1.5.1 Leukemia.

The first study of EVOO phenols involving a leukemia cellular model was conducted by Della Ragione et al [30] about fifteen years ago, they demonstrated that HT is able to stop cell cycle progression and inhibit proliferation in HL60 cell line. The observed effect was due to the release of cytochrome C and subsequent induction of apoptosis by Caspase 3. In this work they also suggest an effect phenotype-dependent because the same inhibition was not seen in two colorectal cancer cell line, in contrast with more recent studies[31]. One of the most interesting finding of the Della Ragione work was that the antiproliferative effects require the presence of two ortho-hidroxyl groups in the phenyl ring of the molecule since the treatment of the cells with TY didn't exert any effect on cell proliferation similarly to what obtained in the above cited Warleta work. In the past years Fabiani and coworkers has extensively studied the effect olive oil phenols in particular HT against different Leukemia models[32-37], they proposed a "multi level" action of EVOO phenols where they modulate different signaling pathways involved in proliferation and apoptosis. The authors proposed the generation of ROS in culture media by HT as a mechanism of action. The oxidative stress produced by high concentration of HT trigger cells to apoptosis. These conclusion are supported by many evidence, since the removal of extracellular H₂O₂ by catalase induced a decrease of apoptotic cells in a dose dependent manner. In this work they clarify that HT can have a double distinct action : antioxidant at low concentration in a range of 5-15 µM and pro-oxidant at greater concentration up to 100 µM. They observed an antiproliferative activity of HT, on different cell lines directly correlated to the amount of H_2O_2 in the medium. The supposed mechanism in the formation of H₂O₂ is the auto oxidation of HT by O₂ and the subsequent formation of superoxide ions, protons and a semiquinone.

In the light of these findings we need to revise a lot of the results obtained from *in vitro* experiments that don't take in account hydrogen peroxide production. This finding provide a new perspective in the study of this kind of molecules.

1.5.2 Colorectal cancer

Dietary habits has been strictly associated with colorectal cancer (CRC) risk and Mediterranean countries shows lower prevalence of this neoplasm if compared with other western countries. One of the hallmark of the Mediterranean diet (MD) is the high consumption of olive oil and this could be a key factor in reducing the onset of CRC. Hashim et al[38, 39] demonstrated that EVOO phenols can inhibit proliferation of colon cancer cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* using different experimental approach. One of the mechanism of action proposed by Guichard and coworkers [40], to explain the block of the proliferation by tyrosol on HT29 cells, involve the extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 and Akt/PKB pro-survival factors by altering their phosphorylation status. The same results was achieved by Corona et al [41], using Caco-2 cells they found a rapid inhibition of ERK 1/2 phosphorylation and a subsequent reduction of cyclin D1 and COX-2 expression. Cardeno et al investigated the relation between antiproliferative effect of Oleuropein and HT and the expression of HIF 1a (hypoxia inducible factor) on HT29 cells. After 24 hours of exposure OLE produced a significant downregulation of HIF 1α with a subsequent upregulation of P53 protein espression[42]. In more recent years the work of Di Francesco et al[43] evaluated the epigenetic change behind the exposure of colorectal cancer cells to HT. Interestingly they found an up regulation of CNR1 gene - encoding for type 1 cannabinoid receptor (CB1) which is known as a tumor suppressor gene. After exposing the cells to EVOO phenol extract or HT they found a reduced CpG methylation of the promoter of CNR1 gene consistent with the antiproliferative effect seen. In the same work

similar epigenetic alteration were observed *in vivo* in the colon of rats fed for 10 days with EVOO supplementation. It's of great interest to note that many of the study conducted on colorectal cancer were made using an *in vivo* experimental model and as above mentioned the obtained data were comparable to those obtained *in vitro*, thus highlighting the potential role of this class of compound in the prevention of this kind of neoplasm.

1.5.3 Breast cancer

The incidence of breast cancer (BC) in the Mediterranean area is much lower if compared to all the world and it is the main reasons for the growing body of scientific literature about the relation between BC and nutraceuticals[44, 45]. One of the first evidence of the antiproliferative properties of EVOO phenols against a BC cellular model was obtained by Han et al[46] in this work they demonstrated that Oleuropein and Hidroxytirosol were able to block cell cycle progression at G1 stage in MCF7 breast cancer cell, with a subsequent apoptosis activation. Interesting several studies investigated the ability of EVOO phenols to interfere with ER signaling[47-53], it's well known that estrogens promote the proliferation of ER-positive breast cancer, therefore the ER receptor could be an important pharmacological target in this disease. The aromatic ring contained in OLE and HT could compete with the estrogens (which share similar structure) for the estrogen receptor binding sites, this is a common feature of other phytoestrogen like quercetin and genestein. Other than canonical activation of ER signaling Sirianni et al[54] demonstrated that OLE and HT could block BC cell proliferation trough the inhibition of ERK1/2 activation. In a recent study Akl et al[55] investigated the intracellular mechanism responsible of the antiproliferative

effect of Oleocanthal against a BC experimental model. The treatment of three different BC cell lines produced a dose-dependent inhibition of HGFinduced cell migration, invasion and a block of cell cycle progression in the G1/S phase. Moreover, They found that (-)-oleocanthal treatment effects were mediated via inhibition of HGF-induced c-Met activation and its downstream mitogenic signaling pathways with a subsequent block of EMT and reduction in cellular motility. In this work they also showed an inhibition of tumor growth in an orthotopic model of breast cancer in athymic nude mice after treatment with (-)-oleocanthal.

Despite the large amount of scientific work investigating the role of EVOO polyphenols in various tumor model, surprisingly there are no literature data about the interaction between these molecules and bladder neoplasia.

1.6 Bladder cancer and nutrition: is there a relationship?

Bladder cancer (BCa) is one of the most common cancer in Western countries and the first cause of death among urinary malignancies. BCa incidence and mortality rates vary substantially across countries due in part to different risk factors. In 2007, a comprehensive review by the World Cancer Research Fund and the American Institute for Cancer Research concluded that established risk factors for bladder cancer include tobacco consumption, infection with Schistosoma haematobium, and both occupational and environmental exposures to carcinogens such as aromatic amines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and arsenic in drinking water[56]. The role of nutraceuticals like protecting factor in the developing of BCa remain still unclear but there are many data that seems to link a regular consumption of fruit and vegetables with a lower incidence of urothelial neoplasia. A recent study in the multiethnic cohort showed how the intake of vegetables and some related micronutrients such as vitamins A, C, E and carotenoids were inversely associated with bladder cancer risk only in women[57]. Ros et al found an association between higher plasma carotenoids concentrations and a lower incidence of bladder cancer suggesting that specific compounds in fruit and vegetables may have protective a protective role towards bladder cancer carcinogenesis[58]. Moreover, data of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study, found an inverse association between the dietary intake of flavanols and lignans and the risk of bladder cancer^[7]. Despite the above mentioned data, collectively, there is a lack of clear epidemiological evidence that link consumption of polyphenols reach food and BCa, even if is well know that these molecules are excreted trough urine in a dose dependent manner[59]. Dietary studies are commonly limited in their conclusions because of heterogeneity of the population studied, variations in lifestyles and the complexity of diet, with different components of the food exerting potential chemopreventive effects, but also containing carcinogens derived from environmental pollution. However, the weak epidemiological evidences indicating a protective role of the diet phytochemicals against BCa are well supported by different biological findings. It was demonstrated that the urine of the BCa patients exhibit high levels of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine which is a marker of oxidative stress excreted in urine upon DNA repair, in this work the authors concluded that genotoxic damage induced by oxidative stress may be an important pathological feature of bladder cancer patients[60]. This finding is of great interests if taken together with the above mentioned Tuck et al work that demonstrated how the conjugate form of EVOO phenols excreted in urine

retain all of the antioxidant properties of the ingested compounds. Collectively the above reviewed data seems to support the thesis that polyphenols rich food like can act like a protecting factor against BCa but more investigation about bioavailability and urinary excretion of these bioactive molecules are needed. 2 Aims

2.1 To nvestigate the ability of EVOO phenols to modulate biological process related to bladder cancer cell motility

The consumption of extra virgin olive oil (EVOO), a common dietary habit of the mediterranean people, seems to be related to a lower incidence of certain types of cancer including bladder neoplasm[61]. Metastases are the major cause of bladder cancer-related deaths and targeting cell motility has been proposed as a therapeutic strategy to prevent cancer spread[62]. The first part of this study aim at investigate the potential anti-metastatic effect of total phenols extracted from EVOO against the human transitional bladder carcinoma cell line T24 using an *in vitro* approach.

2.2 To investigate the antiproliferative activity of EVOO phenols and its ability to chemosensitize bladder cancer cells to chemotherapics.

In the second part we will focus our attention on investigating the antiproliferative activity of EVOO-E and its ability to improve the cytotoxic properties of commonly used chemoterapics in the same experimental condition described above (2.1).

Even if the correlation between bladder cancer and diet has been a topic of interest of many epidemiological studies, most of them were focused on the role of nutraceutical as a possible chemopreventive for this disease. To date there is a small amount of research about the role that nutraceutical can play once the cancer is identified. The data about the interaction between antioxidant of vegetal origin and chemotherapy are controversial and opposing[63-65]. In our opinion this topic is really important as patients are increasingly searching for ways to improve in a safe manner the common pharmacological approach.

3 Materials and methods

3.1 *Extraction of the phenolic fraction.*

EVOO-E were obtained according to previously published methods [66] with some modification, from 30 different lots of an endemic monocultivar olive oil (*Olea europaea* L. var. Itrana) within one month after production. Fifty milliliters of each oil sample were extracted with 150 mL of CH_3CN/H_2O (70:30 v/v) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA). A defatting with *n*-hexane was performed to completely remove the lipid fraction. Aliquots of the raw hydrophilic extract were dried by speedvac and stored at -80°C until use. The extract was redissolved in DMSO (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) at a stock concentration of 10 mg/mL immediately before performing experiments.

3.2 HPLC analysis of the EVOO extract.

The HPLC analysis of the extract was carried out with a Waters apparatus, equipped with a 600 F pump and pump controller models, a Rheodyne injection valve with a 50 μ l loop, a Symmetry 300 column (C18 reverse phase, 4.6x250 mm, 5 μ m particle size, thermostated at 25°C, with a 3.9x20 mm guard column of the same material matrix) and a Waters 2996 Photodiode array detector. The elution was performed at a flow rate of 1 mL/min, with solvent A being 2% acetic acid and solvent B being methanol. The gradient consisted of an initial 5% B for 5 min, to 50% B in 35 min, 100% B in 10 min, 100% B for 10 min. Samples were filtered through a 0.45 μ m cellulose syringe filter before injection. Elution was monitored at 280 nm and peak identification was obtained by comparing retention times and spectral characteristics with those of authentic standards.

3.3 Cell cultures.

T-24 ,5637 cells (human urinary bladder carcinoma) were obtained from Cell Lines Service (CLS, Eppelheim, Germany) and cultured in DMEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM glutamine, 100 units/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin. All media and sera for cell culture were purchased from Gibco (Grand Island, NY, USA) and were endotoxin-free. Human urothelial fibroblast were collected according to previously published methods [67] and kindly provided by Dr. Elena De Falco (Department of Medical-surgical Sciences and Biotechnologies, "Sapienza" University of Rome) and cultured as above described for T24 cells. HT1197 were obtained from ICLC (ICLC, Genova, Italy) and cultured in MEM medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 2 mM glutamine, 100 units/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin

3.4 Cytotoxicity assays.

Cell viability was assessed by Trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) exclusion assay and using the dye [4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) (Promega Corporation, Madison, WI). The assay is based on the ability of living cells to convert MTT into an insoluble purple-coloured formazan, whose amount is proportional to the number of living cells. Cells seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 5000 cells/well were exposed to EVOO-E at a concentration ranging between 2.5 and 100 μ g/mL. After 24 hours, cells were treated with 20 μ l of a 5 mg/mL solution of MTT in phosphate buffered saline (Gibco, Grand Island, NY, USA) and incubated at 37°C for 4 hours. After discarding the medium, the formazan was extracted with DMSO, and absorbance read at 570 nm with a reference at 690 nm.

3.5 Colony forming ability

The cells were plated at density of 200 per 10-cm dishes and exposed to various concentration of EVOO-E. Cells were grown for 14 days with a media renewal every two days. After two weeks the cells were fixed with ethanol, and stained with Giemsa to detect colonies.

3.6 *Cell adhesion assay.*

Cell adhesion assay was performed as previously described [68]. Briefly, the cells (1×10^5 /well) were resuspended in culture medium containing different concentrations of EVOO-E and were plated into 96-well plates coated with fibronectin (Becton–Dickinson, Bedford, MA). After incubation in 5% CO₂ at 37°C for 6 hours, the cells were washed thrice with PBS to remove the non-adherent cells. The attached cells were analyzed by MTT assay.

3.7 Migration assay.

The migration assay was performed through the chemotactic directional migration by using a 24-well transwell insert (8 μ m pore size, EMD Millipore, Temecula, CA, USA). The cells (10⁴ cells/well in serum free DMEM) were placed in the upper chamber and treated in the absence or in the presence of EVOO-E (2.5, 5 and 10 μ g/mL) while the lower chamber was filled with DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS as a chemoattractant. After 24 hours of incubation, a cotton swab was used to remove the non-migrated cells in the upper chamber then the filters were individually stained with 2% crystal violet and the migrated cells adherent to the underside of the filter were examined, counted and photographed under a microscope at x200 magnification.

3.8 Invasion assay.

The invasion assay was performed by using Matrigel (BD Biosciences, Bedford, MA, USA)-coated transwell cell culture chambers (8 μ m pore size, EMD Millipore, Temecula, CA, USA) as described previously. The cells (10⁴ cells/0.4 mL) were cultured for 24 hours in serum-free DMEM medium and then placed in the upper chamber of the transwell insert (5x10⁴ cells/well) and treated with 0, 2.5, 5 and 10 μ g/mL of EVOO-E. The lower chamber was filled with DMEM supplemented with 10% of FBS and the corresponding concentration of extract used in the upper side. The cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere with 95% air and 5% CO₂. At the end of incubation, cells were stained as above described.

3.9 Gelatin zymography.

The activities of MMP-2 and MMP-9 were measured after exposure to various concentrations of EVOO-E. The cells (4x10⁵ cells/well) were plated in 6-well tissue culture plates and incubated in DMEM supplemented with 10% of serum. Before reaching 80% of confluence the cells were washed twice with PBS and incubated in serum free medium with or without 2.5, and 10 µg/mL of extract for 24 hours. An appropriate volume of conditioned medium, adjusted for vital cell number [69], was loaded on a 9% sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel under non-reducing conditions. After electrophoresis, the gel was soaked in 2.5% Triton X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA) twice for a total of 60 min at 25°C, then it was incubated in substrate buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.6, 10 mM CaCl₂, 50 mM NaCl and 1µM ZnCl₂) at 37°C for 18 hours. Positive controls were achieved using recombinant human MMP-2 and MMP-9 (Calbiochem, San Diego, CA, USA). Bands corresponding to activity of MMP-2

and -9 were visualized by negative staining using 0.3% Coomassie Brilliant Blue in 50% methanol and 10% acetic acid as described elsewhere [69]. Quantification of the data from the band density was performed by NIH ImageJ software.

3.10 Quantitative real-time PCR of EMT gene expression.

Cells (1 × 10⁶ cells/well) were placed in 6-well plates and incubated with various concentrations of EVOO-E. Cells were collected and total RNA was extracted from each treatment as previously described. RNA samples were reverse-transcribed at 42°C with High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit for 30 min according to the protocol of the supplier (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Oligonucleotide primers sequences used were listed in Table 2.

Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-Time PCR system was used for each assay in triplicate and expression fold-changes were derived using the comparative CT (threshold cycle) method [70, 71] using 18S as reference gene.

3.11 Cell cycle analysis

Briefly cells were harvested and seeded into 25 cm² flasks at a density of 3×10^5 cells 48 hr before treatment with olive oil phenolic extract at various concentrations (0, 10, 20, 40 µg/ml) in triplicate. Media containing the olive oil phenolic extract was added and the cells incubated for 24 hr at 37°C/5% CO₂. Cells were then washed with PBS and harvested by the addition of 1 ml trypsin EDTA and incubation at 37°C for up to 5 min. Two millilitres of serum-containing medium was added to inactivate the trypsin. At this stage, a cell and viability count was carried out using a haemocytometer and trypan blue dye. The cells were transferred to polypropylene tubes (Becton Dickinson) and

centrifuged at 258g for 3 min. The supernatant was carefully discarded and the pellet re-suspended in 200 µl of ice cold PBS and 2 ml of 70% ethanol/30% PBS. Cells were incubated on ice for 30 min, centrifuged at 258g for 3 min, the supernatant carefully discarded, and the cells re-suspended in 800 µl of ice cold PBS, 100 µl of RNase A (1 mg/ml) (Sigma Chemicals), and 100 µl of propidium iodide (400 μ g/ml) (Sigma Chemicals). The cells were then incubated at 37°C for 30 min before being analysed. Samples were processed on a Accuri C6 flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson Immunocytometry Systems, UK) equipped with a laser (excitation wave length = 488 nm), and the fluorescence emission spectra of propidium iodide was collected at 585 nm (designated FL2), using C6 Software (Becton Dickinson). A total of 10,000 events were captured. These emission spectra were analysed subsequently for DNA content using ModFit LT Software (Verity Software House, Topsham, ME). Each experiment was run in duplicate and the complete data set is the mean of 3 independent experiments. The complete dataset was analysed using ANOVA carried out in SPSS for Windows.

3.12 Immunofluorescent staining of F-actin and β -Tubulin.

For immunofluorescent labeling, after EVOOE treatment cells were simultaneously fixed and permeabilized by brief (1 min) treatment with 0.25% Triton X-100 and 0.5% paraformaldehyde in cytoskeleton buffer (10 mM MES, 150 mM NaCl, 5 mM EGTA, 5 mM MgCl2, and 5 mM glucose, pH 6.1) and then postfixed with 1% paraformaldehyde for 10 min, washed with PBS, and reduced in 1 mM sodium borohydride, to reduce autofluorescence. Coverslips were then incubated for 40 min with 10 μ l of 1:200 diluted primary mouse anti β -Tubulin antibody droplets, or with 1:200 TRITC-conjugated phalloidin (Cell Signaling Technology). The sample preincubated with primary antibody where washed three times with PBS, and incubated with the secondary goat anti mouse FITC conjugated antibodies for 40 min. After an additional three washes with PBS, the nucleus were counterstained with DAPI and the coverslips were mounted on glass slides in Elvanol (Mowiol 4-88, Hoechst, Frankfurt, Germany).

3.13 Western blot analysis

The cells (2×10^6) were seeded in a six-well plate. After 24hours, cells were treated with different concentrations of EVOO extract for 24. Cells and culture medium were then harvested, washed twice with PBS, and finally lysed into RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 0.5% Nadeoxycholate, and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate; SDS), containing a proteaseinhibitor . After 20 minutes on ice, lysates were centrifuged at 20,000 × g for 10 minutes. Protein concentration was determined with the Bradford method. The lysates (20 µg of the total protein) were resolved on 8-12% SDS-PAGE (polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis) and transferred onto PVDF membranes. Membranes were blocked for 1 hour with 5% (BSA), dissolved in TBS solution (10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl). Membranes were then successively incubated overnight at 4°C with the following primary antibodies: rabbit polyclonal anti-PARP diluted 1:2000 in TBST (TBS with 0.1% Tween 20) with 5% BSA and mouse procaspase 3 and rabbit procaspase 9 diluted 1:500 in TBST. After washing in TBST solution, the secondary antibody (antirabbit -mouse IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated antibodies Cell Signaling Technology), diluted in TBST/5% BSA, was added for 50 minutes at room temperature. signals were visualized by ECL reagent according to the manufacture instructions.

3.14 Statistics.

Each assay was replicated at least four times, and statistical significance was determined using Graphpad Prism 4 statistical software package (Graphpad, San Diego, CA, USA). Data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. Comparison of the groups was made by one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc test. Statistical significance was defined as P < 0.05.

4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 EVOO-E chromatographic analysis.

After the extraction process from the different EVOO samples we performed identification of the main phenolic compounds in EVOOE by HPLC-DAD. Chromatographic analyses revealed no major differences in phenolic content of the various lots (see Table 3) which were characterized by a large amount of secoiridoids such as dialdehydic form of elenolic acid linked to tyrosol (p-HPEA-EDA) and dialdehydic form of elenolic acid linked to hydroxytyrosol (3,4-DHPEA-EDA), and of lignans such as pinoresinol. As regards the remaining compounds, TY and HT were the most abundant, whereas the remain was represented by simple phenolics such as vanillic acid, vanillin, *p*coumaric acid, ferulic acid. For our aims we extracted the phenolic fraction from thirty different lots of an endemic monocultivar olive oil (Olea europaea L. var. Itrana) within one month after production in order to obtain a EVOO fraction rich in complex phenols. These results are in good agreement with literature data which report chromatographic profiles strictly similar to what obtained in our experimental conditions [72-74]. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that the different lots of olive oil analyzed present a low content of simple phenols such as TY and HT (Figure 3). These two compounds typically derive from the degradation of more complex molecules, such as secoiridoids and lignans, during prolonged storage or due to sub-optimal extraction conditions to limit simple phenols TY and HT (high temperature, crushing, malaxation, prolonged contact with waste waters, etc...) [75]. Hence our data indicate that the analyzed samples were obtained by correct production procedures giving rise to a high quality EVOO.
4.2 EVOO-E inhibits T24 migration and invasion

Prior to perform cell motility related experiment we evaluated the effect of different concentrations of EVOO-E on cell viability. In our experimental conditions EVOO-E was found to affect T24 cell viability after 24 hours of treatment at concentrations greater than $10 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ in a dose dependent-manner (Figure 4). Notably, at the same concentrations fibroblasts viability was not affected. Despite their different histologic origin than T24 we decided to use fibroblast as a non-cancer control because of their marked motility. These results suggested that EVOOE selectively affects urothelial cancer cells, thus indicating that the cytotoxic potential is not attributable to an unspecific effect when compared to the control both in T24 and in fibroblasts. As regards cell migration and invasion, data indicate that fibroblasts were not inhibited by the phenolic extract at the tested concentrations (Figure 4). Contrary to what observed for fibroblasts, the migration assay showed that the phenolic extract had a significant inhibitory effect on T24 cell motility. After 24 hours of treatment with the same doses of EVOO-E used above the percent of migrated cells decrease from $70 \pm 2\%$ to $10 \pm 3\%$, respectively (Figure 4). Furthermore, the penetration of the Matrigel-coated filter by T24 cells was substantially inhibited in the presence of EVOO-E in a dose dependent manner. The percent of invading cells after exposure to EVOO-E concentration ranging between 2.5 to 10 μ g/mL drastically decrease from 53 ± 2% to 12 ± 1% respectively (Figure 4). It is of note, the observed inhibition occur at subtoxic doses of EVOO-E as shown by viability experiments.

Figure 5 reports the invasion index, which is the ratio between the number of invading cells and the number of migrating cells in the same experimental

conditions, and allows to determine which is the reciprocal contribution of the two phenomena [76]. The statistical analysis of the data showed a significant difference between T24 migrating and invading cells (P<0.001) at EVOO-E concentration of 2.5 and 5 μ g/mL (Figure 5). Data indicate that at 2.5 and 5 μ g/mL of EVOO-E the percent of migrating vs invading T24 cells was significantly different than untreated (P<0.001), with an invasion index of 0.72 and 0.67, respectively.

4.3 EVOO extract attenuates the enzymatic activities of MMP-2 in T24 cells

Due to the observed biological effects exerted towards cell motility we decided to focus our attention on evaluating the activity of two proteins mainly involved in cell motility process. The matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2 and -9, also known as the gelatinases, have been long recognized as major contributors to the proteolytic degradation of extracellular matrix during tumor invasion. In order to determine the effect of EVOO-E on the proteolytic activity, we investigated whether the extract could affect the secretion of gelatinases.

After 18 hours of treatment, the conditioned media of cells grown in the presence or absence of EVOOE were subjected to gelatin zymography to analyze MMP-2 and MMP-9 activities. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), a family of Zn²⁺-dependent endogenous proteases, are able to degrade various components of the extracellular matrix. In the extracellular domain, the activity of these proteases is tightly regulated by inhibitors known as tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs). It has been postulated that TIMPs act as tumor suppressor genes due to their anti-metalloproteinase activity and their protective role on the extracellular matrix [77]. The imbalance between MMPs and TIMPs may be an indicator for cancer prognosis [78]. Most data published

on MMP-2 and MMP-9 seem to link their role to aggressive behavior of different cancer types (Table 4). Indeed, MMP-2 overexpression is found to correlate with poor survival in different type of cancers [79-82]. The results shown in Figure 7 indicate that EVOOE significantly reduced only MMP-2 activity in a dose-dependent manner, with an inhibition of about 48% at 2.5 μ g/mL and of 90% at 10 μ g/mL (P <0,001). Moreover the exposure to EVOO-E did not affect the MMPs activities in fibroblasts conditioned medium, with no significant differences between control and treated samples. Indeed, enzymatic activity analysis reveals a significant decrease specifically for MMP-2 expression.

4.4 EVOOE alters the levels of gene expression associated with EMT only in T24 cells.

To better understand the molecular events behind the alteration of cell motility we decided to perform qRT-PCR of genes related to EMT. The epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) is a multistep process in which epithelial cells lose their epithelial phenotype and acquire mesenchymal characteristics, such as motility and invasive properties. Numerous in vitro and in vivo studies suggest that the EMT is associated with cancer cell invasion and metastasis in various malignancies, including bladder cancer[83]. Despite their epithelial origin, T24 cells are a useful tool to assess a possible reversion of EMT due to the high expression level of mesenchymal genes such as MMP2, N-Cadherin, and β -Catenin. As shown in Figure 6, EVOO-E induced a tenfold reduction of MMP-2 gene expression in T24 cells at both concentrations without affecting MMP-9 mRNA expression (Figure 6). Moreover the treatment with subtoxic doses of EVOOE also induced a strong down regulation of Vimentin and β - Catenin. In the same experimental conditions we also observed a significant increase of the levels of TIMP-1 and TIMP-2. The treatment of fibroblasts with EVOO-E did not gene expression levels at the tested concentrations (Figure 6). The above data show an upregulation of TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 which are endogenous tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. TIMP-1 has been shown to regulate MMP-2 activity and numerous evidences have indicated a correlation between elevated TIMP-1 levels and diminished MMP-2 activity and cell invasiveness[84-86]. These inhibitory effects of EVOO-E on T24 cells are not due to the cytotoxic effect of polyphenols because the viability of these cancer cells was not affected in the range of concentration tested (Figure 4).

We also evaluate the gene expression levels of cadherins. E-Cadherin is considered an active suppressor of invasion and growth of many epithelial cells. Recent studies indicate that cancer cells have up-regulated N-Cadherin in addition to loss of E-Cadherin, this change is called "cadherin switch" and is one of the hallmark of EMT[87]. The data obtained showed a marked decrease in the level of N-Cadherin gene expression with a subsequent up-regulation of E-Cadherin after the treatment with EVOO-E. Taken together all the data collected with qRT-PCR demonstrated how the treatment with EVOO-E is able to revert EMT restoring a less invasive phenotype in T24 bladder cancer cells. Interestingly the gene expression analysis revealed also a strong downregulation of β -catenin expression which is a transcription factor of the Wnt signaling pathway and is involved in the regulation of cell adhesion. Furthermore these data indicate that EVOO-E mechanism of action is in part due to a regulation of gene expression, particularly for those proteins involved in migration and invasion.

4.5 EVOOE inhibits cell growth and clonogenical survival in a dose dependent manner.

In the second section of this study we decided to evaluate the ability of EVOOE to inhibit cell proliferation, for this purpose we added other two bladder cancer cell lines to our experimental model. Initially the effect of EVOOE on cell viability was assessed by trypan blue exclusion assay and the obtained dose response curves are shown in Figure 8. After 24 hours of exposure to various amount of extract, T24 cell viability was not affected at concentrations up to 10 μ g/mL whereas it decreased in a dose dependent manner at higher concentrations with an IC50 of 32 ± 3 μ g/mL.

The viability of 5637 cells was also inhibited in a dose depend manner with an IC50 of 55 \pm 7 µg/mL. On the contrary HT1197 viability was only slightly affected at highest concentration of EVOOE. Human primary fibroblasts viability seems to be not altered by the cytotoxic properties of the phenols extract. The different susceptibility to polyphenols extract among the tested cells is probably ascribable to different biological factors such as gene mutational status. After this set of experiments we decided to exclude the HT1197 from next experiments due to the high concentration of EVOOE needed (more than 100 µg/mL) to block cell proliferation. Even if there is a wide amount of scientific literature that studied cytotoxic effect of extracts of various origin at very high concentration, we decided to perform our experiments using a rather low concentration of EVOOE, more representative of what can be reached *in vivo* with a phenol rich MD.

After this first set of experiments we also decided to compare the cytotoxic properties of three selected components of the phenolic mixture versus the

41

whole extract (EVOOE), the obtained dose response curves are shown in the figure 8. As expected, despite identification of several active chemical compounds in EVOOE, none of the isolated polyphenols demonstrated a biological activity higher than the whole oil extract (Figure 8). This finding is in line with data of Cardeno and coworkers [20] who demonstrated that oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol have anticancer activity on HT-29 human colon cancer cells only at concentrations higher than 400 and 200 µM, respectively. The higher anticancer activity of the whole extract compared to the purified polyphenol could be potentially attributed to a synergistic action among the various components of the extract. Based on these preliminary results, the whole phenolic extract was used for the subsequent experiments instead of the isolated chemical compounds. We also examined the effect of EVOO-E subtoxic doses on the clonogenic survival of T24 and 5637 cells. This assay determines the ability of a cell to proliferate indefinitely, retaining its reproductive ability to form a large colony or a clone. Interestingly, the data (Figure 9) showed a significative decrease in the ability of both cell lines to form colonies starting at a dose of 5 μ g/mL with a marked inhibition of clonogenic activity at 10 $\mu g/mL.$

4.6 EVOOE blocks the cell cycle progression at G2/M stage

To better understand the mechanism underlying cell growth suppression by EVOOE, the cell cycle progression was investigated. T24 and 5637 cells were treated with increasing doses of EVOO-E, and cell cycle distribution analysis was then performed after 24 hours of exposure. As shown in Figure 10, G2/M population of EVOOE-treated T24 cells increased , from 11.1% of the control to 27.1% at EVOO-E doses of 20 and 40 μ g/ml respectively. The treatment also

induced a marked decrease of G0/G1 population in a dose dependent manner with a subsequent increase of sub-G1 particles. This result revealed that EVOOE treatment caused marked accumulation of a G2/M population in T24 cells that lead to an accumulation of sub G1 fraction probably indicating and induction of apoptosis. The cell cycle analysis of 5637 after EVOOE treatment revealed a similar behavior to what observed for T24 with a bigger increase of G2/M population at 40 µg/ml (27.1% of T24 versus 44 % of 5637) and the absence of sub-G1 fraction. The data obtained from cell cycle analysis show a similar mechanism of action of EVOO-E in fact both the cell lines tested were subject to growth arrest prior to mitosis despite their different mutational status. An hypothesis we made to explain this similar response to the polyphenols extract action is that EVOO-E can interfere with the cytoskeleton remodeling and the subsequent mitotic process. During all of our experiments we always notice a change in cell morphology. After the treatment with greater concentration of EVOOE (20-40 µg/ml) the cells acquire a rounded morphology. In order to verify the alteration of the cytoskeleton we performed Immuno fluorescence experiments using Phalloidin (that bind to F-Actin) and an antibody against β -Tubulin . As it can be clearly visible from the Figure 11 the treatment induce a change in cell morphology with a marked variation of cytoskeleton network arrangement. This observation is in line with the findings of Hamdi et al[88] that demonstrated how Oleuropein treatment disrupts the organization of actin filaments altering cancer cells shape and their ability to proliferate.

4.7 EVOOE induce apoptosis only in T24

Despite the cell cycle is blocked in the G2/M phase in both the cell lines, cell cycle analysis experiment revealed only in T24 cell, an accumulation of particles (sub G1) with a small content of DNA that usually indicate apoptosis(Figure 12). In order to confirm the above hypothesis we performed Western blot analysis of PARP and pro-Caspase 3-9. EVOO-E was found to induce apoptotic cell death only in T24 cells in a dose dependent manner. Therefore apoptosis was observed at 24 h, as indicated by the cleavage of PARP. Proteolytic cleavage of specific proteins such as PARP has been shown to occur in cells exposed to a number of apoptotic stimuli[89-91]. Western blot analysis of the cleavage of PARP showed a decrease in the full-size Mw 116,000 fragment and an increase in the cleaved fragment within 24 h after the bladder tumor cells were treated with 20 μ g/ml or 40 μ g/ml of EVOOE (Figure 13). Western blot analysis of procaspase 3 and 9 also showed a marked decrease of their protein expression at higher doses of polyphenols extract indeed cleavage that triggers the activation of various enzymes to initiate apoptotic cell death. Conversely to what observed for T24, the treatment of 5637 cells does not induce apoptosis as it is clearly visible from the Figure 13. This different behavior between the two cell lines tested, in response to EVOO-E treatment, can be explained by different reasons such as different mutational status in key genes involved in cell proliferation regulation(Table 5). The induction of programmed cell death only in T24 can also explain the different susceptibility to the cytotoxic action of EVOOE showed in the firsts experiments (figure 3).

4.8 Evaluation of cytotoxic effect of conventional chemoterapics in association with EVOOE.

In the last part of this study we wanted to evaluate if the simultaneous treatment of T24 cells with commonly used chemotherapics and sub toxic doses of EVOOE can improve the cytotoxic properties of the drugs. We chose to use for all the experiments a concentration of EVOOE of 10 μ g/ml which is not toxic, as previously described (see Figure 4) but can strongly affect gene expression (Figure 6). Prior to each experiments we performed cytotoxicity assay using only the chemoterapics in order to asses the IC50 (data not shown) and the right doses of drugs to use in the next experiments.

4.8.1 EVOOE does not alter Etoposide cytotoxicity

Etoposide is a semisynthetic derivative of podophyllotoxin, a substance extracted from the mandrake root *Podophyllum peltatum*. Having potent antineoplastic properties, etoposide binds to, and inhibits, topoisomerase II and impairs its function in ligating cleaved DNA molecules, resulting in the accumulation of single- or double-strand DNA breaks, the inhibition of DNA replication and transcription, and apoptotic cell death. Etoposide acts primarily in the G2 and S phases of the cell cycle. Etoposide is approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to treat refractory testicular cancer and small cell lung cancer. It has also been useful for other types of cancer, including non-small cell lung cancer, leukemia (acute myelocytic leukemia),uterine carcinoma, myeloblastoma, mycosis fungoides , neuroblastoma , and prostate cancer. After the determination of drugs IC50, we treated for 48 hours, T24 cells with different doses of Etoposide in association with 10 μ g/ml of EVOOE.

cytotoxicity of the drug and there with no significant difference between the concentration tested.

4.8.2 EVOOE decreases Mitomycin C toxicity

Mitomycin is a methylazirinopyrroloindoledione antineoplastic antibiotic isolated from the bacterium Streptomyces caespitosus and other Streptomyces bacterial species. Mitomycin C generates oxygen radicals, alkylates DNA, and produces interstrand DNA cross-links, thereby inhibiting DNA synthesis. Preferentially toxic to hypoxic cells, mitomycin C also inhibits RNA and protein synthesis at high concentrations. In the chemotherapy of bladder cancer, togheter with the baciluss of Calmette Guerin, this drug is often used[92]. The treatment consistS in an intravesical instillation of a 1 mg/mL solution of Mitomycin retained for two hours inside the bladder. To evaluate the effect on cell viability of the simultaneous exposure to the drug and EVOO-E we treated for 48 hours T24 cells with different doses of Mitomycin with and without 10 μ g/ml of phenolic extract. The data showed in Figure 14 panel b demonstrated that, at any concentration tested, the simultaneous treatment reduced the drug cytotoxicity. At a drug concentration of 100 µg/ml the cell viability increased from about 15% when exposed to Mitomycin alone to 50% of the cotreatment, and similar behavior was observed at all of the concentration tested. The data showed show that EVOO-E reduced Mitomycin antiproliferative ability. These results are surprising only in part, indeed it is know that one of the Mitomycin C mechanism of action is a ROS-dependent activation of apoptotic cell death[93], probably the antioxidant properties of EVOOE can interfere with the ROS production induced by the drug, thus reducing its citoxicity. Even if this is the first study about the interaction of EVOO phenols and Mitomycin there are many reports [94-96] that show how different phenolic molecules extracted from various biological matrix can reduce Mitomycin genotoxic damage due to their antioxidant activity.

4.8.3 EVOOE strongly increases Paclitaxel induced apoptosis.

Paclitaxel is a mitotic inhibitor isolated from the bark of the Pacific yew tree, Taxus brevifolia and named it taxol. Later it was discovered that endophytic fungi in the bark synthesize paclitaxel that belongs to the family of taxoid wich are diterpenoids with a structure based on the taxane skeleton. This antineoplastic agent is indicated for the treatment of advanced carcinoma of the ovary, and other various cancers including bladder cancer. Paclitaxel is a antimicrotubule agent that promotes the assembly of microtubules from tubulin dimers and stabilizes microtubules by preventing depolymerization[97]. This stability results in the inhibition of the normal dynamic reorganization of the microtubule network that is essential for basic vital process and cell replication. Paclitaxel effect is due to its ability to interfere with the normal function of microtubule growth. Whereas drugs like colchicine cause the depolymerization of microtubules *in vivo*, paclitaxel arrests their function by having the opposite effect; it hyper-stabilizes their structure destroying the cytoskeleton flexibility. Specifically, paclitaxel binds to the β subunit of tubulin. Tubulin is the "building" block" of microtubules, and the binding of paclitaxel locks these building blocks in place. The resulting microtubule/paclitaxel complex does not have the ability to disassemble.

To perform our experiments, first we determined the drug dose response curve and then we treated we treated for 48 hours T24 cells with three different concentrations of Paclitaxel alone or in association with $10 \mu g/mL$ of EVOOE.

47

The obtained data are show in Figure 14 panel C. Interestingly, at every tested concentration the addition of EVOO-E strongly increases the drug cytotoxicity. When we treated the cells with 5 nM of Paclitaxel the cell viability decreased from 75% of the drug alone to about 25% of the association treatment, and similar response was observed at 20 and 100 nM. Moreover the data analysis showed that exposure to 100 nM of Paclitaxel exert the same cytotoxicity of 5 nM of the same drug if used in association with EVOOE. Collectively the data demonstrates, that combination of EVOOE and paclitaxel possesses a higher antiproliferative activity in vitro compared with each of them alone. In order to evaluate the mechanism behind the increase cell death we performed western blot to asses PARP cleavage after the same treatments of the above experiment. As it is clearly visible from the Figure 15, the simultaneous treatment of Paclitaxel and EVOOE strongly increase the apoptotic cell death at every of the tested concentration, with a marked accumulation of the 85 kDa cleaved fragment of PARP. To our knowledge this the first report that show how EVOO phenols drastically improve the activity of Paclitaxel and more experiments are needed to clarify the mechanism behind this synergism. One of the hypothesis we made, that need to be investigated, is the involvement of MDR protein such as P-Glycoprotein in the chemosensitization induced by EVOOE. There are many reports that show how different polyphenol molecules (catechin from green tea or tannin from grape) exert their chemosensitizing activity reverting MDR expression[98]. Another interesting evidence supporting our hypothesis is the recent work of Xia et al [99] demonstrating that aberrant expression of the MDR1-encoded P-glycoprotein (P-gp) is associated with alteration in Wnt signaling. In this work the authors show how β -catenin knocking down f completely abrogates MDR1 transcription and expression resulting in a complete reversal of P-gp-dependent efflux function. The above findings are of great interest because in our EMT gene expression experiment we also found a strong downregulation of β -catenin (Figure 6) therefore this can be a good starting point for further experiments.

5 Conclusion

It is widely known that the polyphenols contained in various foods exert beneficial effects on health due to their antioxidant, anticancer and antiinflammatory properties [100]. There is a wide body of literature which studies the effect of single polyphenols such as TY, EGCG, quercetin, resveratrol, etc., whereas less efforts have been devoted to the elucidation of complex matrices extracted from foods. In recent years our group started to study the biological effects of complex matrices extracted from different foods rich in polyphenols and antioxidants [101]. In the present work, our first aim was to evaluate the effects of total polyphenols extracted from a locally produced EVOO against cancer cells ability to spread. The anticancer effect of olive oil polyphenols is well known, however, for the first time we demonstrated that EVOO-E exerts an antiproliferative effect on bladder cancer cells in vitro and furthermore we demonstrated that olive oil polyphenols are able to inhibit the metastatic potential of T24 by inhibiting cell migration and invasion through a downregulation of MMP-2 expression. Also, it is of great interest to highlight that the cytotoxic effects observed were specific for T24 cells, a cell line widely used as a model for bladder carcinogenesis [102-104] and known to be highly invasive and aggressive, whereas no effect was evidenced in normal human fibroblasts.

It is well known that tumor metastasis occurs in many steps including vessel formation, cell attachment, adhesion, invasion, migration and proliferation, and these events are regulated by extremely complex mechanisms. Our findings indicate that EVOO-E is able to drastically reduce *in vitro* invasion and migration of T24 bladder cancer cells interfering with EMT gene expression. Interestingly we found that the exposure to low concentration of EVOO-E, easy

to achieve *in vivo*, can revert the epithelial to mesenchymal transition in our cellular model, giving a less invasive phenotype mainly targeting metalloproteinases. Numerous reports have shown that the inhibition of MMPs expression and/or enzymatic activities can be used as an early target for preventing metastasis[105, 106]. MMP-2 is involved in the invasive metastatic potential of tumor cells not only through the degradation of ECM [107] but also by the regulation of cell motility by interacting with integrines and guiding the direction of cell migration [108]. Our results show that at subtoxic doses, EVOOE inhibits MMP-2 activity and subsequently affects the process of migration and invasion. Notably, both phenomena can be attributed to the lower activity of MMP-2. Indeed, gene expression analysis reveals a significant decrease of MMP-2 expression and this result is in good agreement with what observed for the enzymatic activity analysis.

We notice and upregulation of TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 which are endogenous tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. TIMP-1 has been shown to regulate MMP-2 activity and numerous evidences have indicated a correlation between elevated TIMP-1 levels and diminished MMP-2 activity and cell invasiveness[84-86]. These inhibitory effects of EVOO-E on T24 cells are not due to the cytotoxic effect of polyphenols since the viability of these cancer cells was not affected in the range of concentration tested (Figure 4). We also performed qRT-PCR on HT1197 transitional bladder cell line which derives from a grade 4 transitional cell carcinoma of the bladder. We observed an effect strictly similar to what evidenced in T24 cells, *i.e.* a strong down-regulation of MMP-2 expression and a negligible effect on MMP-9 (data not shown). These data indicate that EVOOE exerts its effects on MMP-2 expression independently of the cell line used. Furthermore these data indicate that EVOOE mechanism of action is in part due to a regulation of gene expression, particularly for those proteins involved in migration and invasion. This findings are well supported by the gene expression analysis of EMT related protein that show how the EVOO-E treatment revert this phenotypical change that is a hallmark of different type of cancer cells. In the second part of this study we clarify how the olive oil phenolics exert their antiproliferative activity inducing a block of the cell cycle progression at G2/M stage probably due to interaction with the cytoskeleton. Interestingly we found a different cellular response in EVOO-E ability to induce cell death. We found the activation of apoptosis only in T24 and therefore an improvement of cell toxicity. This finding is not surprising to our point of view because of the different biology of the cell lines tested, but highlights the need of more and different experimental models to better understand olive oil phenols mechanism of action. In the last section of this work we evaluated the ability of low concentration of EVOO-E to improve the activity of different chemotherapics used in the common clinical practice. It is of great interest to underline that the current adjuvant therapy in the management of BCa consist in bladder instillation of alchilant agents [92] that otherwise could exert unfavourable effects [109]. Usually from an analytical point of view, different statistical analyses could be performed to test for synergistic, additive, or sub-additive interactions of combined treatments. These methods include isobologram analyses[110], mean inactivation dose[111] or the median effect principle[112], all of them require the generation of big data amount using a broad range of concentrations of different treatments. In this study we were able to use a simple approach based on the comparison of viability since one of the two treatments given in co-association is always not toxic (EVOO-E). As expected we obtained different results based on the drug tested. Our data demonstrated that simultaneous treatment with Mitomycin and EVOO-E markedly decrease the cytotoxicity of the drug probably due to the antoxidant activity of the phenol molecules contained in the extract. It is well known that many molecules of vegetal origin can interfere with drug therapy. For example the interaction between garlic and Coumadin is well documented[113], but to our knowledge there are no data about customized diet plan to take before and after Mytomycin treatment even if there are controversial data about the role of antioxidants supplements during chemotherapy[63-65]. Probably, a good intake of EVOO-E after the chemotherapy can be helpful in two different manner because it can counteract the toxic residual of alchilating agent, exerting at the same time, the above mentioned anticancer properties. Conversely to what observed for Mitomycin, the addition of EVOO-E to the Paclitaxel treatment lead to a strong increase of the drug toxicity with a marked induction of apoptotic cell death. These data are of big interest because the dose of EVOO-E used for this experiment is not toxic to the cells themselves, and not induce the cytoskeletal alteration observed at higher concentration. In our opinion the cytotoxicity enhancing of Paclitaxel maybe due the observed alternation of gene expression (occuring at low doses of phenolic extract) that chemosensitize the cells by altering the signaling pathways involved in cell proliferation. Collectively our findings suggest that the potential adjuvant properties of EVOO phenols are related to the class of drugs used according to previously published data that point out how the adjunct of high doses of antioxidant to chemotherapy does not always improve the pharmacological treatments[114]. It is important to highlight that even if the mechanism of action of many chemotherapics and also radiotherapy is based in part on the production of free radicals[64, 65] (in that case the intake of antioxidant is not suitable) there are also cytostatic drugs that do not work through oxidative stress mechanism like paclitaxel, vinca alkaloids, anthracycline and many others that can be improved by the use of antioxidant rich supplements[63]. The results obtained in this work suggest that EVOO-E may have efficacy, if delivered directly to the bladder, either alone or in combination with specific therapeutic agents for the treatment of bladder cancer. Moreover, the experimental evidence collected support the growing body of epidemiological data which link olive oil consumption to lower incidence of BCa confirming the bioactivity of natural compounds and their potential use in cancer therapy. Collectively, EVOO-E has multiple anti-metastatic effects and has the potential to be developed as a non-toxic adjuvant for bladder cancer treatment.

6 Figures

Fatty acid	Description		
Oleic Acid (C18:1)	monounsaturated omega-9 fatty acid. It makes up 55 to 83% of olive oil.		
Linoleic Acid (C18:2)	polyunsaturated omega-6 fatty acid that makes up about 3.5 to 21% of olive oil		
Palmitic Acid (C16:0)	saturated fatty acid that makes up 7.5 to 20% of olive oil.		
Stearic Acid (C18:0)	saturated fatty acid that makes up 0.5 to 5% of olive oil		
Linolenic Acid (C18:3)	polyunsaturated omega-3 fatty acid that makes up 0 to 1,5% of olive oil		

Table 1 Fatty acids composition of a common extra virgin olive oil.

Polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) with 18 carbon (C18) atoms such as linoleic (18:2 ω -6), and α -linolenic (18:3 ω -3) are known as essential fatty acids (EFAs) in human nutrition. These fatty acids, although regarded as an indispensable component for cell structure and development and function, cannot be synthesized by the human body. The intake of PUFA is necessary through diet, and should account for only 6–8% of calories from fat.



Figure 1 Biophenols and related compounds identified in olive or olive mill waste.

Iridoids are monoterpenes (C10) arising from the folding of geraniol (114), characterized by a bicyclic fused ring system (six-membered heterocyclic ring fused to cyclopentane ring). Secoiridoids are obtained through opening of the five-membered ring of iridoids.

Forest Plot of Log(Hazard Ratio)



Figure 2 Forest plot of studies that evaluated the association between olive oil intake and cancer development

Data are presented as log Odds Ratios and the corresponding 95%CI. The highest category of olive oil consumption was associated with lower odds of having any type of cancer if compared with the lowest (log odds ratio = -0.41, 95%CI -0.53, -0.29, Cohran's Q = 47.52, p = 0.0002, I-sq = 62%); Moreover, olive oil consumption was associated with lower odds of developing breast cancer (logOR = -0.45 95%CI -0.78 to -0.12), and a cancer of the digestive system (logOR = -0.36 95%CI -0.50 to -0.21), compared with the lowest intake (Psaltopoulou et al.) [115]

MMD	Reverse: GCTTGCGAGGGAAGAAGTTG		
W1V1F2	Forward: CCCCAGACAGGTGATCTTGAC		
MMD0	Reverse: AGGTTGGATACATCACTGCATTA		
MMP9	Forward: CGCTGGGCTTAGATCATTCC		
7TN / D1	Reverse: GGCTTGGAACCCTTTATACATC		
110111	Forward:GGGACACCAGAAGTCAACCA		
	Reverse: TCACAGCCAGTACCTGGTCGCA		
111/11/2	Forward:TCTCAGGCCCTTTGAACATC		
195	Reverse: CCATCCAATCGGTAGTAGCG		
185	Forward: TCTCAGGCCCTTTGAACATC		
	Reverse: TCTTTGACCACCGCTCTCCT		
E-Caderin	Forward: AGTGCCAACTGGACCATTCA		
N Codorin	Reverse: TGCAGATCGGACCGGATACT		
N-Cauenii	Forward: TGGGAATCCGACGAATGG		
	Reverse: ACGCAAAGGTGCATGATTTG		
p-Catemin	Forward: CCCACTGGCCTCTGATAAAGG		

 Table 2 List of primers used in qRT-PCR experiments and their sequences



Figure 3 High-performance liquid chromatograms of the phenolic fraction of a representative virgin olive oil extract.

Elution was monitored at 280 nm and peak identification was obtained by comparing retention times and spectral characteristics with those of authentic standards. Peaks corresponded to (1) hydroxytyrosol, (2) tyrosol, (3) vanillic acid, (4) vanillin, (5) p-coumaric acid, (6) ferulic acid, (7) dialdehydic form of elenolic acid linked to hydroxytyrosol (3,4-DHPEA-EDA), (8) dialdehydic form of elenolic acid linked to tyrosol (p-HPEA-EDA), and (9) pinoresinol. (Coccia et al). [116]

Peak number	Compound name	Area %
1	Hydroxytyrosol	7,5 ± 2
2	Tyrosol	4,2 ± 0,5
3	Vanillic Acid	4 ± 0,3
4	Vanillin	3,8 ± 0,5
5	P-coumaric Acid,	4,2 ± 0,5
6	Ferulic Acid	4,8 ± 0,5
	(3,4-DHPEA-EDA)	
7	Dialdehydic Form Of Elenolic Acid Linked To Hydroxytyrosol	26,3 ± 2
	(P-hpea-eda)	
8	Dialdehydic Form Of Elenolic Acid Linked To Tyrosol	16,7 ± 2
9	Pinoresinol	19,9 ± 2
	Other	8,6 ± 3

Table 3 Average composition of EVOO phenol extract.

Chromatographic analyses was performed on 30 sample of EVOO extract obtained from different olive oil lots. The comparison between the peak area revealed no major differences in phenolic content of the various lots, which were characterized by a large amount of secoiridoids (7,8) and lignans such as pinoresinol



Figure 4 Effects of EVOO-E treatment on cell viability, adhesion and motility. After 24 hours of exposure to various concentration of EVOO-E (0-100 μ g/ml). EVOO-E significantly inhibits the viability of T24 bladder cancer cells. The effect on cell adhesion, migration and invasion was evaluated at subtoxic concentration of EVOO-E after 24 hours of exposure. As shown in the figure the cell adhesion assay indicates that there are no significant differences between treated cells when compared to the control both in T24 and in fibroblasts. As regards cell migration and invasion, data indicate that fibroblasts were not inhibited by the phenolic extract at the tested concentrations, while the phenolic extract had a significant inhibitory effect on T24 cell motility. After 24 hours of treatment with the same doses of EVOO-E used above, the percent of migrated cells decrease from 70 \pm 2% to 10 \pm 3%, respectively. Furthermore, the penetration of the Matrigel-coated filter by T24 cells (invasion assay) was substantially inhibited in the presence of EVOO-E in a dose dependent manner. The percent of invading cells after exposure to EVOO-E concentration ranging between 2.5 to 10 μ g/mL drastically decrease from 53 ± 2% to 12 ± 1% respectively (Fig.3C). The data are presented as means ±SD. *** P<0.001 vs. control (Coccia et al)[116].

Invasion index



Figure 5 Invasion index

To evaluate the differences between migration and invasion on T24 bladder cells we compare the data of this two assays obtained in the same experimental condition. We assessed invasive potential by calculating an invasion index, which is the ratio of percentage invasion through the Matrigel-coated filters relative to migration through the uncoated filters of test cells over that of the control counterparts. The evaluation of the invasion index, whose value is significantly lower than 1, indicates that the inhibition of invasion is not only due to an altered cell motility, but also due to a limited ability to degrade ECM.The data are presented as means \pm SD. *** P<0.001 T24 migrated cells vs. T24 invaded cells

Author	Number of patient	Sample source	Detection method	Conclusion proposed
Margulies et al[117]	55	Urine	ELISA, Western blot	MMP-2 levels increased in cancer
Gohji et al[118]	233	Serum ELISA		High MMP2 in advanced disease
Hamasaki et al [86]	ki T24 cell line RT-PCR, EIA]		MMP2/TIMP2 imbalance suggest progression	
Kanayama et al[119]	41	Frozen tissue	RT-PCR	MMP-2 & TIMP-2 associated with stage
Furukawa et al[120]		UCT1 and 2 lines	RT-PCR	MMP-2 higher in invasive UCT-1 line implants
Kanda et al[121]	Kanda et 61 Frozen tissue al[121]		Zymography	MMP-2 associated with grade,stage and result
Vasala et al [122]	54	Paraffin/tissue	Immunoistochemistry	MMP-2 associated with stage and worse survival
Sumi et al[123]	20	Paraffin/tissue	Immunoistochemistry	MMP-2 associated with grade,stage and result

Table 4 Scentific data about the MMP2 and TIMP2 association to aggressive behaviour of bladder cancer



Figure 6 Quantitative real-time PCR of EMT related genes

The data obtained show a marked decrease in the gene expression level of N-Cadherin, MMP2, Vimentin and β -Catenin with a subsequent up-regulation of E-Cadherin, TIMP1 and TIMP2 after the treatment with EVOO-E. The data are presented as means ±SD.





To achieve MMPs positive controls were used commercially available recombinant MMP-2 (72 kDa) and MMP-9 (92 kDa). The densitometric analysis show a significantly reduction (*P*<0.001) of enzymatic MMP-2 activity in a dose dependent manner. The data are presented as means ±SD. *** *P*<0.001 vs. control. (Coccia et al).

ATCC® No.	Name	Primary Site	Tissue Tumor Source	Histology	Mutant Gene	Zygosity
НТВ-4™	T-24	urinary bladder	primary	carcinoma	HRAS	homozygous
					TP53	homozygous
НТВ-9тм	5637	urinary bladder	primary	carcinoma	TP53	heterozygous
					RB1	homozygous
					TP53	homozygous
CRL-1473™	HT-1197	urinary bladder	primary	carcinoma	NRAS	heterozygous
					PIK3CA	heterozygous

Table 5 Gene mutation status of bladder cancer cell lines used in the presentwork

Although some significant heterogeneity and complexity between these cell lines their genomic profiles exhibited a similar pattern to Urinary Bladder cancer. 5637 well represent the E2F3/RB1 pathway due to amplification of 6p22.3, concomitant with loss of one copy of RB1 and mutation of the remaining copy. The T24 belongs to the alternative pathway of FGFR3/CCND1 by presenting mutated HRAS and overrepresented CCND1. These cell lines cover the more frequent subtypes of Bladder cancer and are reliable models that can be used, as a group, in preclinical studies[124]. The HT1197 where chose for their high degree of epithelial differentiation.





Panel A show the different susceptibility to polyphenols extract among the tested cells. T24 were the most affected by the cytotoxic action of EVOO-E with an IC50 of $32 \pm 3 \mu g/mL$ while the 5637 retain an IC50 of $55 \pm 3 \mu g/mL$. HT1197 were only slightly affected at the highest concentration of phenolic extract tested. The comparison between dose response curve obtained from three selected component of the phenolic mixture versus the whole extract (EVOO-E), is shown in panel B. As expected, despite identification of several active chemical compounds in EVOO-E, none of the isolated polyphenols demonstrated a biological activity higher than the whole oil extract.





After 14 days of exposure to low doses of EVOO-E the colony forming ability of both the cell lines tested markedly decrease. In particular T24 were the most affected cells by the inhibitory action of phenolic extract starting at a dose of 5 ug/mL with a marked inhibition of clonogenic activity at 10 ug/mL.



Figure 10 EVOO-E blocks the cell cycle progression at G2/M stage

Cell growth suppression by EVOO-E, was investigated by analyzing the cell cycle progression. T24 and 5637 cells were treated with increasing doses of EVOO-E, and cell cycle distribution analysis was then performed after 24 hours of exposure. G2/M population of EVOO-E-treated T24 cells was increased , from 11.1% of the control to 27.1% at 20 and 40 μ g/ml respectively. The treatment also induced a marked decrease of G0/G1 population in a dose dependent manner. The cell cycle analysis of 5637 after EVOO-E treatment revealed a similar behavior to what observed for T24 with a bigger increase of G2/M population at 40 μ g/ml (27.1% of T24 versus 44% of 5637.



Figure 11 Immunofluorescent staining of F-actin and β-Tubulin.

Immunofluorescence was performed after treating the cells for 24 hours with different doses of EVOO-E, for this purpose we used an antibody against β -Tubulin (green) and phalloidin marked with TRITC (red) against F-actin.


Figure 12 Cell cycle analysis of sub G1

The cell cycle analysis after EVOO-E treatment revealed only in T24 cell, and accumulation of particles (sub G1) with a small content of DNA that usually indicate apoptosis. The percent of sub G1 events in T24 increase from about 6% of non treated cells to 28% after the exposure for 24 hours to 40



Figure 13 Western blot analysis of apoptosis related protein

Apoptosis was observed at 24 h, as indicated by the degradation of PARP.Western blot analysis of the cleavage of PARP showed a decrease in the full-size Mr 116,000 fragment and an increase in the Mr 85,000 cleaved fragment within 24 h after the bladder tumor cells were treated with 20 μ g/ml or 40 μ g/ml of EVOO-E. Western blot analysis of procaspase 3-9 also showed a marked diminished expression consistent with the apoptosis induction.



Figure 14 Evaluation of cytotoxic effect of conventional chemotherapics in association with EVOO-E.

The data show the viability after the simultaneous treatment of T24 cells with commonly used chemotherapics and EVOO-E. We choose to use for all the experiments a concentration of EVOO-E of $10 \mu g/ml$ which is non toxic (white bar).



Figure 15 EVOO-E strongly increases Paclitaxel induced apoptosis.

The simultaneous treatment of Paclitaxel and EVOO-E strongly increases the apoptotic cell death at any of the tested concentration, with a marked accumulation of the 85 kDa cleaved fragment of PARP. To our knowledge this the first report that show how EVOO phenols drastically improve the activity of Paclitaxel.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pehlivan B, Yilmaz E: **Comparison of Oils Originating from Olive Fruit by Different Production Systems**. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists Society* 2010, **87**(8):865-875.
- 2. Casaburi I, Puoci F, Chimento A, Sirianni R, Ruggiero C, Avena P, Pezzi V: **Potential of olive oil phenols as chemopreventive and therapeutic agents against cancer: A review of in vitro studies**. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 2013, **57**(1):71-83.
- 3. Menendez JA, Papadimitropoulou A, Vellon L, Lupu R: A genomic explanation connecting "Mediterranean diet", olive oil and cancer: Oleic acid, the main monounsaturated fatty acid of olive oil, induces formation of inhibitory "PEA3 transcription factor-PEA3 DNA binding site" complexes at the Her-2/neu (erbB-2) oncogene promoter in breast, ovarian and stomach cancer cells. European Journal of Cancer 2006, 42(15):2425-2432.
- 4. Nieto LM, Hodaifa G, Pena JLL: Changes in phenolic compounds and Rancimat stability of olive oils from varieties of olives at different stages of ripeness. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 2010, 90(14):2393-2398.
- 5. Soler-Rivas C, Espin JC, Wichers HJ: **Oleuropein and related compounds**. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 2000, **80**(7):1013-1023.
- 6. Cicerale S, Lucas L, Keast R: **Biological Activities of Phenolic Compounds Present in Virgin Olive Oil**. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2010, **11**(2):458-479.
- Zamora-Ros R, Sacerdote C, Ricceri F, Weiderpass E, Roswall N, Buckland G, St-Jules DE, Overvad K, Kyro C, Fagherazzi G *et al*: Flavonoid and lignan intake in relation to bladder cancer risk in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study. *British Journal of Cancer* 2014, 111(9):1870-1880.
- 8. Ghasemzadeh A, Ghasemzadeh N: Flavonoids and phenolic acids: Role and biochemical activity in plants and human. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research* 2011, 5(31):6697-6703.
- 9. Wenzel H, Kuntz S, Brendel MD, Daniel H: Dietary flavone is a potent apoptosis inducer in human colon carcinoma cells. *Cancer Research* 2000, **60**(14):3823-3831.
- 10. Duthie SJ, Dobson VL: **Dietary flavonoids protect human colonocyte DNA** from oxidative attack in vitro. *European Journal of Nutrition* 1999, **38**(1):28-34.
- 11. Beauchamp GK, Keast RSJ, Morel D, Lin JM, Pika J, Han Q, Lee CH, Smith AB, Breslin PAS: **Phytochemistry Ibuprofen-like activity in extra-virgin olive oil**. *Nature* 2005, **437**(7055):45-46.
- 12. de la Torre R: **Bioavailability of olive oil phenolic compounds in humans**. *Inflammopharmacol* 2008, **16**(5):245-247.
- 13. Kountouri AM, Mylona A, Kaliora AC, Andrikopoulos NK: **Bioavailability of the phenolic compounds of the fruits (drupes) of Olea europaea**

(olives): Impact on plasma antioxidant status in humans. *Phytomedicine* 2007, **14**(10):659-667.

- 14. Miro-Casas E, Covas MI, Fito M, Farre-Albadalejo M, Marrugat J, de la Torre R: **Tyrosol and hydroxytyrosol are absorbed from moderate and sustained doses of virgin olive oil in humans**. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2003, **57**(1):186-190.
- 15. Tuck KL, Freeman MP, Hayball PJ, Stretch GL, Stupans I: **The in vivo fate of hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol, antioxidant phenolic constituents of olive oil, after intravenous and oral dosing of labeled compounds to rats**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2001, **131**(7):1993-1996.
- 16. Vissers MN, Zock PL, Roodenburg AJC, Leenen R, Katan MB: **Olive oil phenols are absorbed in humans**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2002, **132**(3):409-417.
- 17. Manna C, Galletti P, Maisto G, Cucciolla V, D'Angelo S, Zappia V: **Transport mechanism and metabolism of olive oil hydroxytyrosol in Caco-2 cells**. *Febs Letters* 2000, **470**(3):341-344.
- 18. D'Archivio M, Filesi C, Vari R, Scazzocchio B, Masella R: **Bioavailability of the Polyphenols: Status and Controversies**. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2010, **11**(4):1321-1342.
- 19. Visioli F, Galli C, Bornet F, Mattei A, Patelli R, Galli G, Caruso D: **Olive oil phenolics are dose-dependently absorbed in humans**. *Febs Letters* 2000, **468**(2-3):159-160.
- Hernaez A, Remaley AT, Farras M, Fernandez-Castillejo S, Subirana I, Schroeder H, Fernandez-Mampel M, Munoz-Aguayo D, Sampson M, Sola R *et al*: Olive Oil Polyphenols Decrease LDL Concentrations and LDL Atherogenicity in Men in a Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Nutrition* 2015, 145(8):1692-1697.
- 21. de la Torre-Carbot K, Chavez-Servin JL, Jauregui O, Castellote AI, Lamuela-Raventos RM, Nurmi T, Poulsen HE, Gaddi AV, Kaikkonen J, Zunft H-F *et al*: **Elevated Circulating LDL Phenol Levels in Men Who Consumed Virgin Rather Than Refined Olive Oil Are Associated with Less Oxidation of Plasma LDL**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2010, **140**(3):501-508.
- 22. Tuck KL, Hayball PJ, Stupans I: Structural Characterization of the Metabolites of Hydroxytyrosol, the Principal Phenolic Component in Olive Oil, in Rats. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 2002, 50(8):2404-2409.
- 23. Flora SD, Izzotti A, D'Agostini F, Balansky RM, Noonan D, Albini A: **Multiple points of intervention in the prevention of cancer and other mutationrelated diseases**. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis* 2001, **480–481**:9-22.
- 24. D'Archivio M, Santangelo C, Scazzocchio B, Vari R, Filesi C, Masella R, Giovannini C: Modulatory effects of polyphenols on apoptosis induction: Relevance for cancer prevention. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2008, 9(3):213-228.

- 25. Hillestrøm PR, Covas M-I, Poulsen HE: **Effect of dietary virgin olive oil on urinary excretion of etheno–DNA adducts**. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 2006, **41**(7):1133-1138.
- 26. Machowetz A, Poulsen HE, Gruendel S, Weimann A, Fitó M, Marrugat J, de la Torre R, Salonen JT, Nyyssönen K, Mursu J *et al*: **Effect of olive oils on biomarkers of oxidative DNA stress in Northern and Southern Europeans**. *The FASEB Journal* 2007, **21**(1):45-52.
- 27. Fabiani R, Rosignoli P, Bartolomeo A, Fuccelli R, Servili M, Montedoro GF, Morozzi G: **Oxidative DNA damage is prevented by extracts of olive oil, hydroxytyrosoll, and other olive phenolic compounds in human blood mononuclear cells and HL60 cells**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2008, **138**(8):1411-1416.
- 28. Warleta F, Quesada CS, Campos M, Allouche Y, Beltrán G, Gaforio JJ: Hydroxytyrosol Protects against Oxidative DNA Damage in Human Breast Cells. *Nutrients* 2011, **3**(10):839.
- 29. Erol O, Arda N, Erdem G: **Phenols of virgin olive oil protects nuclear DNA against oxidative damage in HeLa cells**. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 2012, **50**(10):3475-3479.
- 30. Della Ragione F, Cucciolla V, Borriello A, Della Pietra V, Pontoni G, Racioppi L, Manna C, Galletti P, Zappia V: **Hydroxytyrosol, a natural molecule occurring in olive oil, induces cytochrome c-dependent apoptosis**. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2000, **278**(3):733-739.
- 31. Cardeno A, Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Rosillo MA, de la Lastra CA: **Oleuropein, a Secoiridoid Derived from Olive Tree, Inhibits the Proliferation of Human Colorectal Cancer Cell Through Downregulation of HIF-1**. *Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal* 2013, **65**(1):147-156.
- Fabiani R, De Bartolomeo A, Rosignoli P, Servili M, Montedoro GF, Morozzi
 G: Cancer chemoprevention by hydroxytyrosol isolated from virgin olive oil through G(1) cell cycle arrest and apoptosis. *European Journal of Cancer Prevention* 2002, 11(4):351-358.
- 33. Fabiani R, De Bartolomeo A, Rosignoli P, Servili M, Selvaggini R, Montedoro GF, Di Saverio C, Morozzi G: **Virgin olive oil phenols inhibit proliferation of human promyelocytic leukemia cells (HL60) by inducing apoptosis and differentiation**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2006, **136**(3):614-619.
- 34. Fabiani R, Rosignoli P, De Bartolomeo A, Fuccelli R, Morozzi G: Inhibition of cell cycle progression by hydroxytyrosol is associated with upregulation of cyclin-dependent protein kinase inhibitors p21(WAF1/Cip1) and p27(Kip1) and with induction of differentiation in HL60 cells. *Journal of Nutrition* 2008, **138**(1):42-48.
- 35. Fabiani R, Rosignoli P, De Bartolomeo A, Fuccelli R, Servili M, Montedoro GF, Morozzi G: **Oxidative DNA damage is prevented by extracts of olive oil, hydroxytyrosoll, and other olive phenolic compounds in human blood mononuclear cells and HL60 cells**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2008, **138**(8):1411-1416.

- 36. Fabiani R, Fuccelli R, Pieravanti F, De Bartolomeo A, Morozzi G: **Production of hydrogen peroxide is responsible for the induction of apoptosis by hydroxytyrosol on HL60 cells**. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 2009, **53**(7):887-896.
- 37. Fabiani R, Rosignoli R, Fuccelli R, Pieravanti F, De Bartolomeo A, Morozzi G: Involvement of Hydrogen Peroxide Formation on Apoptosis Induction by Olive Oil Phenolic Compounds. *Czech Journal of Food Sciences* 2009, 27:S197-S199.
- 38. Hashim Y, Rowland IR, McGlynn H, Servili M, Selvaggini R, Taticchi A, Esposto S, Montedoro G, Kaisalo L, Wahala K *et al*: **Inhibitory effects of olive oil phenolics on invasion in human colon adenocarcinoma cells in vitro**. *International Journal of Cancer* 2008, **122**(3):495-500.
- 39. Hashim YZHY, Worthington J, Allsopp P, Ternan NG, Brown EM, McCann MJ, Rowland IR, Esposto S, Servili M, Gill CIR: **Virgin olive oil phenolics extract inhibit invasion of HT115 human colon cancer cells in vitro and in vivo**. *Food & Function* 2014, **5**(7):1513-1519.
- 40. Guichard C, Pedruzzi E, Fay M, Marie J-C, Braut-Boucher F, Daniel F, Grodet Gougerot-Pocidalo M-A, Chastre E, **Kotelevets** A, L et al: Dihydroxyphenylethanol induces apoptosis bv activating serine/threonine protein phosphatase PP2A and promotes the endoplasmic reticulum stress response in human colon carcinoma cells. Carcinogenesis 2006, 27(9):1812-1827.
- 41. Corona G, Deiana M, Incani A, Vauzour D, Dessi MA, Spencer JPE: **Inhibition** of p38/CREB phosphorylation and COX-2 expression by olive oil polyphenols underlies their anti-proliferative effects. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2007, 362(3):606-611.
- 42. Cardeno A, Sanchez-Hidalgo M, Angeles Rosillo M, Alarcon de la Lastra C: Oleuropein, a Secoiridoid Derived from Olive Tree, Inhibits the Proliferation of Human Colorectal Cancer Cell Through Downregulation of HIF-1. Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal 2013, 65(1):147-156.
- 43. Di Francesco A, Falconi A, Di Germanio C, Di Bonaventura MVM, Costa A, Caramuta S, Del Carlo M, Compagnone D, Dainese E, Cifani C *et al*: **Extravirgin olive oil up-regulates CB1 tumor suppressor gene in human colon cancer cells and in rat colon via epigenetic mechanisms**. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* 2015, **26**(3):250-258.
- 44. Escrich E, Solanas M, Moral R: **Olive oil and other dietary lipids in breast cancer**. *Cancer treatment and research* 2014, **159**:289-309.
- 45. Escrich E, Moral R, Solanas M: Olive oil, an essential component of the Mediterranean diet, and breast cancer. *Public Health Nutrition* 2011, 14(12A):2323-2332.
- 46. Han J, Talorete TPN, Yamada P, Isoda H: **Anti-proliferative and apoptotic** effects of oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol on human breast cancer MCF-7 cells. *Cytotechnology* 2009, **59**(1):45-53.

- 47. Chimento A, Casaburi I, Rosano C, Avena P, De Luca A, Campana C, Martire E, Santolla MF, Maggiolini M, Pezzi V *et al*: **Oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol activate GPER/GPR30-dependent pathways leading to apoptosis of ER-negative SKBR3 breast cancer cells**. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 2014, **58**(3):478-489.
- 48. Elamin MH, Daghestani MH, Omer SA, Elobeid MA, Virk P, Al-Olayan EM, Hassan ZK, Mohammed OB, Aboussekhra A: **Olive oil oleuropein has antibreast cancer properties with higher efficiency on ER-negative cells**. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 2013, **53**:310-316.
- 49. Ismail AM, In LLA, Tasyriq M, Syamsir DR, Awang K, Mustafa AHO, Idris OF, Fadl-Elmula I, Hasima N: Extra virgin olive oil potentiates the effects of aromatase inhibitors via glutathione depletion in estrogen receptorpositive human breast cancer (MCF-7) cells. Food and Chemical Toxicology 2013, 62:817-824.
- 50. Menendez JA, Vazquez-Martin A, Colomer R, Brunet J, Carrasco-Pancorbo A, Garcia-Villalba R, Fernandez-Gutierrez A, Segura-Carretero A: Olive oil's bitter principle reverses acquired autoresistance to trastuzumab (Herceptin (TM)) in HER2-overexpressing breast cancer cells. *Bmc Cancer* 2007, **7**.
- 51. Menendez JA, Vazquez-Martin A, Garcia-Villalba R, Carrasco-Pancorbo A, Oliveras-Ferraros C, Fernandez-Gutierrez A, Segura-Carretero A: **tabAnti-HER2 (erbB-2) oncogene effects of phenolic compounds directly isolated from commercial Extra-Virgin Olive Oil (EVOO)**. *Bmc Cancer* 2008, **8**.
- 52. Menendez JA, Vazquez-Martin A, Oliveras-Ferraros C, Garcia-Villalba R, Carrasco-Pancorbo A, Fernandez-Gutierrez A, Segura-Carreter A: Extravirgin olive oil polyphenols inhibit HER2 (erbB-2)-induced malignant transformation in human breast epithelial cells: Relationship between the chemical structures of extra-virgin olive oil secoiridoids and lignans and their inhibitory activities on the tyrosine kinase activity of HER2. International Journal of Oncology 2009, 34(1):43-51.
- 53. Oliveras-Ferraros C, Fernandez-Arroyo S, Vazquez-Martin A, Lozano-Sanchez J, Cufi S, Joven J, Micol V, Fernandez-Gutierrez A, Segura-Carretero A, Menendez JA: **Crude phenolic extracts from extra virgin olive oil circumvent de novo breast cancer resistance to HER1/HER2-targeting drugs by inducing GADD45-sensed cellular stress, G2/M arrest and hyperacetylation of Histone H3**. *International Journal of Oncology* 2011, **38**(6):1533-1547.
- 54. Sirianni R, Chimento A, De Luca A, Casaburi I, Rizza P, Onofrio A, Iacopetta D, Puoci F, Ando S, Maggiolini M *et al*: **Oleuropein and hydroxytyrosol inhibit MCF-7 breast cancer cell proliferation interfering with ERK1/2 activation**. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research* 2010, **54**(6):833-840.
- 55. Akl MR, Ayoub NM, Mohyeldin MM, Busnena BA, Foudah AI, Liu Y-Y, El Sayed KA: **Olive Phenolics as c-Met Inhibitors: (-)-Oleocanthal**

Attenuates Cell Proliferation, Invasiveness, and Tumor Growth in Breast Cancer Models. *Plos One* 2014, **9**(5).

- 56. Burger M, Catto JWF, Dalbagni G, Grossman HB, Herr H, Karakiewicz P, Kassouf W, Kiemeney LA, La Vecchia C, Shariat S *et al*: **Epidemiology and Risk Factors of Urothelial Bladder Cancer**. *European Urology* 2013, **63**(2):234-241.
- 57. Park S-Y, Ollberding NJ, Woolcott CG, Wilkens LR, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN: **Fruit and Vegetable Intakes Are Associated with Lower Risk of Bladder Cancer among Women in the Multiethnic Cohort Study**. *Journal of Nutrition* 2013, **143**(8):1283-1292.
- 58. Ros MM, Bueno-de-Mesquita HB, Kampman E, Aben KKH, Buechner FL, Jansen EHJM, van Gils CH, Egevad L, Overvad K, Tjonneland A *et al*: **Plasma** carotenoids and vitamin C concentrations and risk of urothelial cell carcinoma in the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2012, **96**(4):902-910.
- 59. Medina-Remon A, Tresserra-Rimbau A, Arranz S, Estruch R, Lamuela-Raventos RM: **Polyphenols excreted in urine as biomarkers of total polyphenol intake**. *Bioanalysis* 2012, **4**(22):2705-2713.
- 60. Chiou CC, Chang PY, Chan EC, Wu TL, Tsao KC, Wu JT: **Urinary 8**hydroxydeoxyguano sine and its analogs as DNA marker of oxidative stress: development of an ELISA and measurement in both bladder and prostate cancers. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2003, **334**(1-2):87-94.
- 61. Brinkman MT, Buntinx F, Kellen E, van Dongen M, Dagnelie PC, Muls E, Zeegers MP: **Consumption of animal products, olive oil and dietary fat and results from the Belgian case-control study on bladder cancer risk**. *European Journal of Cancer* 2011, **47**(3):436-442.
- 62. Palmer TD, Ashby WJ, Lewis JD, Zijlstra A: **Targeting tumor cell motility to prevent metastasis**. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2011, **63**(8):568-581.
- 63. Nechuta S, Lu W, Chen Z, Zheng Y, Gu K, Cai H, Zheng W, Shu XO: Vitamin Supplement Use During Breast Cancer Treatment and Survival: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 2011, 20(2):262-271.
- 64. Moss RW: **Do antioxidants interfere with radiation therapy for cancer**? *Integrative Cancer Therapies* 2007, **6**(3):281-292.
- 65. D'Andrea GM: Use of antioxidants during chemotherapy and radiotherapy should be avoided. *Ca-a Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 2005, **55**(5):319-321.
- 66. Monti MC, Margarucci L, Tosco A, Riccio R, Casapullo A: **New insights on the interaction mechanism between tau protein and oleocanthal, an extra-virgin olive-oil bioactive component**. *Food & Function* 2011, **2**(7):423-428.
- 67. Lokeshwar VB, Rubinowicz D, Schroeder GL, Forgacs E, Minna JD, Block NL, Nadji M, Lokeshwar BL: **Stromal and epithelial expression of tumor**

markers hyaluronic acid and HYAL1 hyaluronidase in prostate cancer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2001, **276**(15):11922-11932.

- 68. Chen JS, Huang XH, Wang Q, Chen XL, Fu XH, Tan HX, Zhang LJ, Li W, Bi J: **FAK is involved in invasion and metastasis of hepatocellular carcinoma**. *Clinical & Experimental Metastasis* 2010, **27**(2):71-82.
- Anelli T, Mannello F, Salani M, Tonti GA, Poiana G, Biagioni S: Acetylcholine induces neurite outgrowth and modulates matrix metalloproteinase 2 and 9. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2007, 362(2):269-274.
- 70. Lin CC, Chen JT, Yang JS, Lu HF, Hsu SC, Tan TW, Lin YT, Ma YS, Ip SW, Wu JJ et al: Danthron inhibits the migration and invasion of human brain glioblastoma multiforme cells through the inhibition of mRNA expression of focal adhesion kinase, Rho kinases-1 and metalloproteinase-9. Oncology Reports 2009, 22(5):1033-1037.
- 71. Chen YY, Chiang SY, Lin JG, Ma YS, Liao CL, Weng SW, Lai TY, Chung JG: Emodin, aloe-emodin and rhein inhibit migration and invasion in human tongue cancer SCC-4 cells through the inhibition of gene expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9. International Journal of Oncology 2010, 36(5):1113-1120.
- Baiano A, Gambacorta G, Terracone C, Previtali MA, Lamacchia C, La Notte
 E: Changes in Phenolic Content and Antioxidant Activity of Italian
 Extra-Virgin Olive Oils during Storage. Journal of Food Science 2009, 74(2):C177-C183.
- 73. Garcia A, Brenes M, Garcia P, Romero C, Garrido A: **Phenolic content of commercial olive oils**. *European Food Research and Technology* 2003, **216**(6):520-525.
- 74. Gomez-Alonso S, Salvador MD, Fregapane G: **Phenolic compounds profile** of Cornicabra virgin olive oil. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 2002, **50**(23):6812-6817.
- 75. Servili M, Selvaggini R, Esposto S, Taticchi A, Montedoro G, Morozzi G: Health and sensory properties of virgin olive oil hydrophilic phenols: agronomic and technological aspects of production that affect their occurrence in the oil. *Journal of Chromatography A* 2004, **1054**(1-2):113-127.
- 76. Ono H, Imoto I, Kozaki K, Tsuda H, Matsui T, Kurasawa Y, Muramatsu T, Sugihara K, Inazawa J: SIX1 promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colorectal cancer through ZEB1 activation. Oncogene 2012, 31(47):4923-4934.
- 77. Cook LM, Hurst DR, Welch DR: **Metastasis suppressors and the tumor microenvironment**. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 2011, **21**(2):113-122.
- 78. Gakiopoulou H, Nakopoulou L, Siatelis A, Mavrommatis L, Panayotopottlou EG, Tsirmpa L, Stravodimos C, Giannopoulos A: **Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 as a multifunctional molecule of which the expression is associated with adverse prognosis of patients with**

urothelial bladder carcinomas. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2003, **9**(15):5573-5581.

- 79. Song N, Sung H, Choi JY, Han S, Jeon S, Song M, Lee Y, Park C, Park SK, Lee KM et al: Preoperative Serum Levels of Matrix Metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) and Survival of Breast Cancer among Korean Women. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention 2012, 21(8):1371-1380.
- 80. Li Y, Wu T, Zhang BL, Yao YQ, Yin GW: Matrix metalloproteinase-9 is a prognostic marker for patients with cervical cancer. *Medical Oncology* 2012, **29**(5):3394-3399.
- 81. Szarvas T, vom Dorp F, Ergun S, Rubben H: **Matrix metalloproteinases** and their clinical relevance in urinary bladder cancer. *Nature Reviews Urology* 2011, 8(5):241-254.
- 82. De Cicco C, Ravasi L, Zorzino L, Sandri MT, Botteri E, Verweij F, Granchi D, de Cobelli O, Paganelli G: Circulating levels of VCAM and MMP-2 may help identify patients with more aggressive prostate cancer. *Current Cancer Drug Targets* 2008, **8**(3):199-206.
- 83. Yun SJ, Kim W-J: Role of the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Bladder Cancer: From Prognosis to Therapeutic Target. *Korean J Urol* 2013, **54**(10):645-650.
- 84. Zheng HC, Takahashi H, Murai Y, Cui ZG, Nomoto K, Niwa H, Tsuneyama K, Takano Y: **Expressions of MMP-2, MMP-9 and VEGF are closely linked to growth, invasion, metastasis and angiogenesis of gastric carcinoma**. *Anticancer Research* 2006, **26**(5A):3579-3583.
- 85. Zhang Y, Wang C, Mizukami H, Itoh H, Kusama M, Ozawa K, Jinbu Y: Increased expression and activation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) in O-1N: Hamster oral squamous cell carcinoma with high potential lymph node metastasis. *Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research* 2006, **25**(3):417-423.
- 86. Hamasaki T, Hattori T, Kimura G, Nakazawa N: **Tumor progression and** expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2) mRNA by human urinary bladder cancer cells. *Urological Research* 1998, **26**(6):371-376.
- 87. Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R: Molecular mechanisms of epithelialmesenchymal transition. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 2014, 15(3):178-196.
- 88. Hamdi HK, Castellon R: **Oleuropein, a non-toxic olive iridoid, is an antitumor agent and cytoskeleton disruptor**. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 2005, **334**(3):769-778.
- 89. Chen H, Landen CN, Li Y, Alvarez RD, Tollefsbol TO: **Epigallocatechin** gallate and sulforaphane combination treatment induce apoptosis in paclitaxel-resistant ovarian cancer cells through hTERT and Bcl-2 down-regulation. *Experimental Cell Research* 2013, **319**(5):697-706.
- 90. Yang K, Zheng XY, Qin J, Wang YB, Bat Y, Mao QQ, Wan Q, Wu ZM, Xie LP: Up-regulation of p21(WAF1/Cip1) by saRNA induces G1-phase arrest and apoptosis in T24 human bladder cancer cells. *Cancer Letters* 2008, 265(2):206-214.

- 91. Yuan SSF, Chang HL, Chen HW, Kuo FC, Liaw CC, Su JH, Wu YC: Selective cytotoxicity of squamocin on T24 bladder cancer cells at the S-phase via a Bax-, Bad-, and caspase-3-related pathways. *Life Sciences* 2006, 78(8):869-874.
- 92. Raghavan D, Burgess E, Gaston KE, Hooke MR, Riggs SB: **Neoadjuvant and Adjuvant Chemotherapy Approaches for Invasive Bladder Cancer**. *Seminars in Oncology* 2012, **39**(5):588-597.
- 93. Fang J, Nakamura H, Iyer AK: **Tumor-targeted induction of oxystress for cancer therapy**. *Journal of Drug Targeting* 2007, **15**(7-8):475-486.
- 94. Stagos D, Spanou C, Margariti M, Stathopoulos C, Mamuris Z, Kazantzoglou G, Magiatis P, Kouretas D: Cytogenetic effects of grape extracts (Vitis vinifera) and polyphenols on mitomycin C-induced sister chromatid exchanges (SCEs) in human blood lymphocytes. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 2007, 55(13):5246-5252.
- 95. Stagos D, Kazantzoglou G, Magiatis P, Mitaku S, Anagnostopoulos K, Kouretas D: Effects of plant phenolics and grape extracts from Greek varieties of Vitis vinifera on Mitomycin C and topoisomerase I-induced nicking of DNA. International Journal of Molecular Medicine 2005, 15(6):1013-1022.
- 96. Yamagishi M, Osakabe N, Natsume M, Adachi T, Takizawa T, Kumon H, Osawa T: Anticlastogenic activity of cacao: inhibitory effect of cacao liquor polyphenols against mitomycin C-induced DNA damage. Food and Chemical Toxicology 2001, **39**(12):1279-1283.
- 97. Vindya NG, Sharma N, Yadav M, Ethiraj KR: **Tubulins The Target for Anticancer Therapy**. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry* 2015, **15**(1):73-82.
- 98. Zhao B-x, Sun Y-b, Wang S-q, Duan L, Huo Q-l, Ren F, Li G-f: Grape Seed Procyanidin Reversal of P-glycoprotein Associated Multi-Drug Resistance via Down-regulation of NF-kappa B and MAPK/ERK Mediated YB-1 Activity in A2780/T Cells. *Plos One* 2013, 8(8).
- 99. Xia Z, Guo M, Liu H, Jiang L, Li Q, Peng J, Li J-D, Shan B, Feng P, Ma H: **CBP-dependent Wnt/beta-catenin Signaling is Crucial in Regulation of MDR1 Transcription**. *Current Cancer Drug Targets* 2015, **15**(6):519-532.
- 100. Scoditti E, Calabriso N, Massaro M, Pellegrino M, Storelli C, Martines G, De Caterina R, Carluccio MA: **Mediterranean diet polyphenols reduce inflammatory angiogenesis through MMP-9 and COX-2 inhibition in human vascular endothelial cells: A potentially protective mechanism in atherosclerotic vascular disease and cancer**. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* 2012, **527**(2):81-89.
- 101. Coccia A, Carraturo A, Mosca L, Masci A, Bellini A, Campagnaro M, Lendaro E: Effects of methanolic extract of sour cherry (Prunus cerasus L.) on microbial growth. International Journal of Food Science and Technology 2012, 47(8):1620-1629.
- 102. Yan L, Yan KQ, Kun W, Xu L, Ma Q, Tang YQ, Jiao W, Gu GL, Fan YD, Xu ZH: **Berberine inhibits the migration and invasion of T24 bladder cancer**

cells via reducing the expression of heparanase. *Tumor Biology* 2013, **34**(1):215-221.

- 103. Hu ZH, Lin YW, Chen H, Mao YQ, Wu J, Zhu Y, Xu X, Xu XL, Li SQ, Zheng XY et al: MicroRNA-101 suppresses motility of bladder cancer cells by targeting c-Met. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 2013, 435(1):82-87.
- 104. Wang XS, Zhang KJ, Sun LJ, Liu JQ, Lu HP: **Short interfering RNA directed** against Slug blocks tumor growth, metastasis formation, and vascular leakage in bladder cancer. *Medical Oncology* 2011, **28**:S413-S422.
- 105. Sun Y, Liu M, Yang BF, Li BX, Lu JG: **Role of siRNA silencing of MMP-2 gene on invasion and growth of laryngeal squamous cell carcinoma**. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology* 2008, **265**(11):1385-1391.
- 106. Zhi YH, Song MM, Wang PL, Zhang T, Yin ZY: **Suppression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 via RNA interference inhibits pancreatic carcinoma cell invasiveness and adhesion**. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 2009, **15**(9):1072-1078.
- 107. You JJ, Madigan MC, Rowe A, Sajinovic M, Russell PJ, Jackson P: An inverse relationship between KAI1 expression, invasive ability, and MMP-2 expression and activity in bladder cancer cell lines. Urologic Oncology-Seminars and Original Investigations 2012, **30**(4):502-508.
- 108. Jiao Y, Feng X, Zhan YP, Wang RF, Zheng S, Liu WG, Zeng XL: Matrix metalloproteinase-2 Promotes alpha v beta 3 Integrin-Mediated Adhesion and Migration of Human Melanoma Cells by Cleaving Fibronectin. *Plos One* 2012, **7**(7).
- 109. Branchereau J, Luyckx F, Hitler M, Karam G, Bouchot O, Rigaud J: **Bladder necrosis after an immediate post-operative mitomycin C instillation**. *Progres En Urologie* 2011, **21**(2):151-153.
- 110. Sreenivasan S, Krishnakumar S: **Synergistic Effect of Curcumin in Combination with Anticancer Agents in Human Retinoblastoma Cancer Cell Lines**. *Current eye research* 2015, **40**(11):1153-1165.
- 111. Vijayakumar S, Ng TC, Koumoundouros I, Higgins PD, Thomas FJ: **LESS WELL KNOWN PARAMETERS OF INVITRO RADIOSENSITIVITY**. *Journal of the National Medical Association* 1989, **81**(7):799-802.
- 112. Mak S, Luk WWK, Cui W, Hu S, Tsim KWK, Han Y: **Synergistic Inhibition on Acetylcholinesterase by the Combination of Berberine and Palmatine Originally Isolated from Chinese Medicinal Herbs**. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience* 2014, **53**(3):511-516.
- 113. Haefeli WE, Carls A: Drug interactions with phytotherapeutics in oncology. *Expert Opinion on Drug Metabolism & Toxicology* 2014, 10(3):359-377.
- 114. Gröber U: Antioxidants and Other Micronutrients in Complementary Oncology. *Breast Care* 2009, **4**(1):13-20.
- 115. Psaltopoulou T, Kosti RI, Haidopoulos D, Dimopoulos M, Panagiotakos DB: Olive oil intake is inversely related to cancer prevalence: a systematic

review and a meta-analysis of 13800 patients and 23340 controls in 19 observational studies. *Lipids in Health and Disease* 2011, 10.

- 116. Coccia A, Bastianelli D, Mosca L, Monticolo R, Panuccio I, Carbone A, Calogero A, Lendaro E: Extra Virgin Olive Oil Phenols Suppress Migration and Invasion of T24 Human Bladder Cancer Cells Through Modulation of Matrix Metalloproteinase-2. Nutrition and Cancer-an International Journal 2014, 66(6):946-954.
- 117. Margulies IMK, Hoyhtya M, Evans C, Stracke ML, Liotta LA, Stetlerstevenson WG: **URINARY TYPE-IV COLLAGENASE ELEVATED LEVELS ARE ASSOCIATED WITH BLADDER TRANSITIONAL CELL-CARCINOMA**. *Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention* 1992, **1**(6):467-474.
- 118. Gohji K, Fujimoto N, Fujii A, Komiyama T, Okawa J, Nakajima M: **Prognostic** significance of circulating matrix metalloproteinase-2 to tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-2 ratio in recurrence of urothelial cancer after complete resection. *Cancer Research* 1996, **56**(14):3196-3198.
- 119. Kanayama H, Yokota K, Kurokawa Y, Murakami Y, Nishitani M, Kagawa S: Prognostic values of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 expression in bladder cancer. Cancer 1998, 82(7):1359-1366.
- 120. Furukawa A, Tsuji M, Nishitani M, Kanda K, Inoue Y, Kanayama HO, Kagawa S: Role of the matrix metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase families in noninvasive and invasive tumors transplanted in mice with severe combined immunodeficiency. Urology 1998, 51(5):849-853.
- 121. Kanda K, Takahashi M, Murakami Y, Kanayama H, Kagawa S: **The role of the activated form of matrix metalloproteinase-2 in urothelial cancer**. *Bju International* 2000, **86**(4):553-557.
- 122. Vasala K, Paakko P, Turpeenniemi-Hujanen T: Matrix metalloproteinase-2 immunoreactive protein as a prognostic marker in bladder cancer. *Urology* 2003, 62(5):952-957.
- 123. Sumi T, Yoshida H, Hyun Y, Yasui T, Matsumoto Y, Hattori K, Sugimura K, Kawashima H, Nakatani T, Ishiko O: **Expression of matrix metalloproteinases in human transitional cell carcinoma of the urinary bladder**. *Oncology Reports* 2003, **10**(2):345-349.
- 124. Pinto-Leite R, Carreira I, Melo J, Ferreira SI, Ribeiro I, Ferreira J, Filipe M, Bernardo C, Arantes-Rodrigues R, Oliveira P *et al*: **Genomic characterization of three urinary bladder cancer cell lines**: **understanding genomic types of urinary bladder cancer**. *Tumor Biology* 2014, **35**(5):4599-4617.